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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘Directors”) of Kwong Man
Kee Group Limited (the “Company’, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Company Announcements” page
of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com for at least 7 days from the date
of its posting and the Company’s website at www.kmk.com.hk.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, | am
pleased to present the annual report of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2020.

Review

The Group is principally engaged in car park flooring industry in Hong
Kong and Macau. We provide (i) flooring services, which involve
the application of proprietary floor coating products for the purpose
of providing a colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing surface that is
resistant against water and petrochemicals; and (i) ancillary services,
which include specialised texture painting and waterproofing works;
and (iii) others - sales of car park flooring materials. Our target segment
ranges from mid to high end projects in the car park flooring market.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the revenues from Hong
Kong and Macau markets were approximately HK$85.0 million (2019:
approximately HK$100.7 million) and approximately HK$10.0 million
(2019: approximately HK$17.2 million), respectively. The decrease
of revenue was mainly driven by the delay in commencement and
work progress of some projects caused by the social unrest in Hong
Kong since June 2019 and the ongoing Coronavirus Disease 2019
("COVID-19”) outbreak in 2020. After the outbreak of COVID-19, Hong
Kong and Macau governments have imposed a series of precautionary
and control measures, including inbound and outbound travel
restrictions and public health measures, causing some contractors,
subcontractors and suppliers of the Group to temporarily suspend or
slow down their operations which in turn delaying the work progress of
the Group’s certain projects.

Most of the delayed or suspended projects were resumed. The Group
is still in the process of assessing the impacts of the COVID-19 to the
Group’s performance for the next financial year and will continue to
closely monitor the situation and development of COVID-19 and take
appropriate measures when necessary.

Forward

Looking forward, the future opportunities and challenges facing the
Group will continue to be affected by (i) the market and economic
environment which will affect the development of the property market
and the construction schedule of our main contractors who are mainly
property developers; and (ii) the factors affecting the labour and
material costs as well as our contract price.
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In light of the prevailing market and economic uncertainty (in particular,
the impact of social unrest and recent COVID-19 outbreak) and the
keen competition in the car park flooring market, the Group will focus
on the following business strategies in order to strengthen its market
position and income stream: (i) explore any new opportunities to
diversify its business; (ii) keep track of any new construction projects
and refurbishment projects in car park flooring markets in Hong Kong
and Macau; (iii) expand the business in our ancillary services, i.e.
specialized texture painting and waterproofing works; and (iv) take
measures to control the operating cost, such as the labour and material
costs, as well as general administrative expenses.

Appreciation

| would like to express my gratitude on behalf of the Group to
all customers, suppliers, subcontractors, business partners and
professional parties for their support to our business development,
especially during the time of social unrest and COVID-19 outbreak for
the year ended 31 March 2020. | also take this opportunity to thank for
the management and employees of the Group for their contribution and
commitment throughout the year.

Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
Kwong Chi Man
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 19 June 2020
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KWONG Chi Man (& X), aged 65, is the chairman of the Group.
Mr. Kwong is mainly responsible for the leadership and management
of the Board and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Kwong was
appointed as an executive Director on 30 May 2016. He is a director of
all subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Kwong has accumulated over 35 years of experience in the
construction industry. Mr. Kwong entered into the construction industry
as a sole proprietor with the business registration of Kwong Man
Kee Engineering in 1982. Mr. Kwong started the car park flooring
business in 2003 and in 2005 undertook projects from major property
developers, architects, main contractors and government bodies. In
2008, Mr. Kwong became a shareholder and director of Kwong Man
Kee Engineering Limited (“KMK”) and subsequently became the sole
shareholder of KMK in 2013. Mr. Kwong has accumulated over 15 years
of experience in the car park flooring industry. Mr. Kwong is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Director.

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (784£), aged 44, is an executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Group and is principally responsible for the
business development, overall management and business operations
of the Group. Mr. Yip first joined the Group in November 2003 on a part
time basis to promote the Group’s business. In August 2015, Mr. Yip
took up the position of manager of KMK on a full time basis. Mr. Yip
has accumulated over 15 years of experience in the car park flooring
industry. Mr. Yip was appointed as an executive Director on 3 August
2018. He is a director of all subsidiaries of the Group except Victor Ease
Limited.

Mr. Yip graduated from The University of British Columbia in May
1997 with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering with distinction
and subsequently obtained a master’s degree in engineering from the
same university in May 1998. Mr. Yip is an associate of The Hong Kong
Institute of Director.

Mr. Yip Wai Man (${23), aged 46, is an executive Director principally
responsible for supervision and management of site works, quality
control and work safety. Mr. Yip WM worked in his family business in
trading before joining the Group in November 2005 as a technician. He
left the Group in January 2006 to rejoin his family business but returned
as the technician in June 2006. In 2010, Mr. Yip WM became a site
foreman of the Group and has accumulated near 15 years of experience
working in the Group. Mr. Yip WM was appointed as an executive
Director on 13 June 2016.
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In October 2012, Mr. Yip WM completed and passed the Technically
Competent Person T1 Training Course at the Hong Kong Institute
of Vocational Education. Mr. Yip WM has also completed the Safety
Supervisor Training Course at Hong Kong Human Resources Limited in
March 2013. Mr. Yip WM is an associate of The Hong Kong Institute of
Director.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo (R#%), aged 45, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2016. Ms. Yu has
accumulated experience in the civil and geotechnical engineering field
when she was employed from 1998 to 2005 by Greg Wong & Associates
Limited, a civil and structural engineering company in Hong Kong. In
2012, Ms. Yu commenced her legal career and she was admitted as a
solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in April 2014.

Ms. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering from the
University of British Columbia in May 1997 and a master’'s degree
in engineering (civil) from Cornell University (USA) in May 1998.
In November 2007, Ms. Yu further completed a master’'s degree in
engineering (industrial engineering and logistics management) from the
University of Hong Kong. In December 2010, Ms. Yu obtained her Juris
Doctor degree and subsequently the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws
(PCLL) in July 2011, both from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Law Pui Cheung (#M&), aged 64, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2016. Mr. Law
has accumulated over 35 years of experience in the accountancy
profession. Mr. Law began his career with Ernst and Whinney, the
predecessor firm of Ernst & Young, an international accounting firm in
Hong Kong. Mr. Law joined Li, Tang, Chen & Co., a practising certified
public accountant firm in Hong Kong in 1989 and retired as a partner
in June 2016. Mr. Law is currently a practising director of Yong Zheng
CPA Limited and also founder and chief executive officer of Marvin Law
& Co., both are certified public accountant firms. He is also a member
of the Disciplinary Panel of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Law is a fellow or member of the following professional organisations:

B E @ F

BEERTIEXRBMNEREGBHEE

Organisation Capacity Since (Year)
Bis B fts (1)
The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants Fellow 1990
BHLREAE BAgE —hNhBF
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants Fellow 1985
PN BAgE —N\RF
Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants Member 1995
RAEHMAE 28 —hANEF
Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute Fellow 2015
BEBFARESS BAgE —Z-h%F
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors Fellow 2011
BELEREY BAGE —T——F
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales Fellow 2015
RRBERER gt Ag BAGE —ZT-h%F

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan (JEEEBT), aged 44, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2016. Mr. Wat
has accumulated more than 10 years of experience in the civil and
geotechnical engineering field when he was employed from August
1998 to November 2009 by Mott MacDonald Hong Kong Limited, a
global management, engineering and development consultancy firm.
In November 2009, Mr. Wat became a director of Kin Wah Hong Paper
Limited, a company with the principle business of paper agency and
distributorship in Hong Kong, where he is responsible for the overall
administration, procurement, financial control and sales and marketing.

Mr. Wat has been a member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
(Civil Discipline) since March 2003.

Mr. Wat graduated from the University of British Columbia in May 1997
with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering and subsequently obtained
a master’s degree of Engineering (Civil) from Cornell University (USA) in
May 1998.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Choi Wai Hung (34{2%#), aged 56, joined the Group as the financial
controller and company secretary in December 2017. He is responsible
for overall financial management and company secretarial matters of
the Group. He also supports the management on strategic and financial
planning and funding matters in relation to the business development of
the Group.

During the course of his professional career, he had the opportunity to
hold various senior accounting and finance positions in company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, international corporation
and other well-established companies in various industries. He had
extensive experience in the areas of financial management, financial
control, auditing, treasury and taxation as well as projects regarding
M&A and IPO.

Mr. Choi graduated from the Hong Kong Shue Yan College with a
Diploma in Accounting in 1990 and obtained a master’s degree in
management majored in accounting in 2010 from Dongbei University
of Finance and Economics in the People’s Republic of China. He has
been a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since 1999 and fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since 2008.

| ANNUAL REPORT 2020 £

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

aREERE

BEHELE 565 RZE—tF+_AMAR
SEEAUBRERARINE - HABRASEN
BRIBEERARNNWERE - BHAEASEE
BERAENRBRIEHEAARBESE LR
EWERMIS -

EEFECBELET  RERLEMRA (B
FERLEM) BERUEBBARETRITERMA
REBEORARESREGA MM BB - BEMH
B - MHES - B EBMRGARE B
BMBERRAAARSEERAEELR -

EEER-NNEFEGEEHLCERGX
BUARR-_E-TFEREGPEARANBERL
MEABERSET B0 (G 28N (X)) -
BE-NWNANFRABBEMASEEILE
“ERR-FERREARN ARG MAGERS

g o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in car park flooring industry in Hong
Kong and Macau. We provide (i) flooring services, which involve
the application of proprietary floor coating products for the purpose
of providing a colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing surface that is
resistant against water and petrochemicals; (ii) ancillary services, which
include specialised texture painting and waterproofing works; and (iii)
others - sales of car park flooring materials. Our target segment range
from mid to high end projects in the car park flooring market.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the revenues from Hong
Kong and Macau markets were approximately HK$85.0 million (2019:
approximately HK$100.7 million) and approximately HK$10.0 million
(2019: approximately HK$17.2 million), respectively. The significant
drop of revenue from Macau market was mainly caused by the outbreak
of COVID-19 in early 2020. The Macau government has introduced and
implemented a series of precautionary and control measures which
caused certain projects in Macau temporarily suspended or delayed.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recorded total revenue of
approximately HK$95.0 million, or the decrease of 19.4% as compared
with approximately HK$117.9 million for the year ended 31 March
2019. As a result of the decrease of revenue, the Group’s net profit
substantially decreased from approximately HK$9.9 million for the year
ended 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$6.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

Revenue

The revenue, which is principally generated from the provision of car
park flooring services projects, decreased to approximately HK$95.0
million or 19.4%, for year ended 31 March 2020 from approximately
HK$117.9 million for year ended 31 March 2019. The decrease of
revenue was mainly driven by the delay in commencement and work
progress of some projects caused by the social unrest in Hong Kong
since June 2019 and the ongoing COVID-19 outbreak in 2020.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit dropped by approximately HK$3.3 million, or
10.2% from approximately HK$32.7 million for the year ended 31 March
2019 to approximately HK$29.4 million for the year ended 31 March
2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
T E E N @wm R 2N

The gross profit margin of the Group increased from 27.8% for the year
ended 31 March 2019 to 30.9% for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
increase of project cost for variation orders for the year ended 31 March
2020 was fewer than expected, as compared with the year ended 31
March 2019.

Impairment loss on trade and retention receivables and contract
assets

The Group recorded impairment loss on trade and retention receivables
and contract assets of approximately HK$1.0 million for the year ended
31 March 2020 as compared with approximately HK$242,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2019. Impairment loss is calculated under
expected credit loss model with reference to the expected credit loss
rates, which were determined based on the cash collection performance
for customers with respect to the credit terms granted to each customer
and also taking into account the forward-looking information. The
increase in the impairment was mainly due to the increase in the trade
receivables caused by the slowdown in settlement from customers as a
result of the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020, even though the Group
has implemented stringent credit control policies and enhanced their
collection efforts during the year.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses of the Group slightly decreased
from approximately HK$20.8 million for the year ended 31 March
2019 to approximately HK$20.4 million for the year ended 31 March
2020. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of staff
cost, depreciation, professional fee and other general administrative
expenses.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense for the Group decreased slightly from
approximately HK$1.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to
approximately HK$1.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
decrease of income tax expense was primarily due to the decrease in
profit before income tax, which the decrease was mostly offset by (i)
the increase of impairment loss on trade and retention receivables and
contract assets which was non-deductible expense in taxation purpose;
and (i) the timing difference effect on the depreciation allowance for the
year ended 31 March 2020.

Profit for the year

The net profit of the Group decreased from approximately HK$9.9
million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$6.1
million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The decrease in profit was
mainly due to the decrease in revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the Directors still consider that the future opportunities
and challenges facing the Group will continue to be affected by (i) the
market and economic environment which will affect the development
of the property market and the construction schedule of our main
contractors who are mainly property developers; and (ii) the factors
affecting the labour and material costs as well as our contract price.

In light of the prevailing market and economic uncertainty (in particular,
the impact of social unrest and recent COVID-19 outbreak) and the
keen competition in the car park flooring market, the Group will focus
on the following business strategies in order to strengthen its market
position and income stream: (i) explore any new opportunities to
diversify its business; (ii) keep track of any new construction projects
and refurbishment projects in car park flooring markets in Hong Kong
and Macau; (iii) expand the business in our ancillary services, i.e.
specialized texture painting and waterproofing works; and (iv) take
measures to control the operating cost, such as the labour and material
costs, as well as general administrative expenses. The Group will
adhere to these strategies and cope with future challenges in order to
achieve continuous growth for the Group and the shareholders’ value as

a whole.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s current ratio was approximately 2.4 times as at 31 March
2020 compared to approximately 2.2 times at 31 March 2019. As at 31
March 2020, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$19.6 million (2019: approximately HK$23.6 million).

The total interest-bearing borrowings (including bank borrowings and
finance lease payables/lease liabilities) of the Group as at 31 March
2020 were approximately HK$10.8 million (2019: approximately HK$11.6
million). The borrowings were secured by the Group’s certain assets
with carrying amount of approximately HK$34.6 million as at 31 March
2020 (2019: approximately HK$36.3 million).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had total assets of approximately
HK$119.2 million (2019: approximately HK$117.8 million) which were
financed by total liabilities and total equity of approximately HK$34.2
million (2019: approximately HK$34.8 million) and approximately
HK$85.0 million (2019: approximately HK$83.1 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
T E E N @m R o M

GEARING RATIO
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2020 was approximately
11.3% (2019: approximately 12.2%).

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the total interest-bearing
borrowings divided by the total capital of approximately HK$95.8 million
as at 31 March 2020 (2019: approximately HK$94.6 million). The total
capital of the Group is calculated as total equity plus total borrowings.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group since
its shares listed on GEM on 13 October 2016. The share capital of the
Company only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$6,000,000 and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
600,000,000 of HK$0.01 each.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

There was no significant investment held by the Group nor any material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiary, associate and joint venture for the
year ended 31 March 2020.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

As at the date of this announcement, the Board does not have any plan
for material investments or additions of capital assets.

RISK OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE FLUCTUATIONS

The Group operates in Hong Kong and Macau and majority of its
business transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Macau Pataca, and hence, the Group does not have any material
exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations for the year ended 31
March 2020. The Group has not entered any financial instrument for
hedging purpose.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and maintained a healthy liquidity position
throughout the reporting year. To manage liquidity risk, the Board
closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its
funding requirements from time to time.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 31 employees in total (2019:
32 employees). The staff costs of the Group (including directors’
emoluments and management, administrative and operational staff
costs) for the year ended 31 March 2020 were approximately HK$13.7
million (2019: approximately HK$13.5 million).

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
working experience and with reference to the prevailing market
conditions. On top of basic remuneration, discretionary bonus may
be granted to senior management and staff members by reference to
the Group's performance as well as individual’'s performance. Other
staff benefits include medical benefits, mandatory provident fund and
sponsorship of training courses.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities. As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s committed
lease payments were recognised as lease liabilities of approximately
HK$673,000 after the adoption of HKFRS 16. For details regarding the
operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019, please refer to Note
26 to the consolidated financial statements.

IMPACT OF CORONAVIRUS DISEASE 2019

After the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020, Hong Kong and Macau
governments have imposed a series of precautionary and control
measures, including inbound and outbound travel restrictions and
public health measures, in relation to the spread of COVID-19. It caused
our contractors, subcontractors and suppliers to temporarily suspend
or slow down their operations which in turn delaying the work progress
of the Group’s certain projects. The temporary slowdown of business
activities due to COVID-19 also caused delay in settlement of account
receivables from the Group’s certain customers since February 2020.

As at the date of this report, most of the delayed or suspended projects
were resumed. The Group is still in the process of assessing the
impacts of the COVID-19 to the Group’s performance in the next year
and will continue to closely monitor the situation and development of
COVID-19 and take appropriate measures when necessary.

EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

The Board is not aware of any events after the date of consolidated
statement of financial position that requires disclosure.

OFF BALANCE SHEET TRANSACTIONS
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had not entered into any off balance
sheet transactions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

it ¥ & B ® &

INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to Rule 18.44(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is
pleased to present the corporate governance report of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Company has made continued efforts to incorporate the key
elements of sound corporate governance in its management structures
and internal control procedures. The Company is committed to
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance, the principles
of which serve to uphold a high standard of ethics, transparency,
responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business, and to ensure
that affairs are conducted in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations.

The Board believes that good and effective corporate governance
practices are keys to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and other
stakeholders, and essential for encouraging accountability and
transparency so as to sustain the success of the Group and to create
long-term value for the Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 of
the GEM Listing Rules, which includes developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, training
and continuous professional development of Directors, and reviewing
the Company’s compliance with the code provision in the CG Code and
disclosures in this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has complied with the principles and applicable code
provisions of the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2020, except
the deviation from CG Code provision A.2.1 up to 1 September 2019 as
set out below.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly
established and set out in writing.

Mr. Kwong Chi Man used to be the chairman and the chief executive
officer of the Company. Mr. Kwong has been the key leadership
figure of the Group for over 16 years and is well recognised in the car
park flooring industry in Hong Kong. Mr. Kwong has been primarily
involved in the overall business development, technical operations and
strategic planning of the Group. Since the listing of the Company on
GEM, the Directors are of the view that it would be in the Group’s best
interest for Mr. Kwong to continue performing the two roles in terms
of effective management and business development, and considered
that the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code was
appropriate.

The Board reviewed and discussed the need for the Group to appoint
a suitable candidate to assume the role of chief executive in order to
comply with the CG code during its meeting on 21 June 2019. Taking
into account that (i) Mr. Yip Kong Lok (one of the executive Directors)
has more than 15 years of experience in the car park flooring industry;
and (ii) Mr. Kwong would like to focus more on exploration of further
business opportunities than general operation and management, the
Board considers that it would be in the interest of the Group and the
shareholders of the Company for Mr. Yip to be appointed for the role of
chief executive in place of Mr. Kwong in terms of general management
and business operations of the Group. Mr. Yip was appointed as chief
executive officer of the Company with effect from 1 September 2019.

Upon Mr. Yip's appointment as the chief executive officer in place of
Mr. Kwong since 1 September 2019, the Group has complied with the
CG Code in all aspects.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as the code of conduct for securities transactions by the Directors in
respect of the Shares (the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific
enquiries to all Directors, each of them has confirmed that he/she has
fully complied with the required standard of dealings set out in the Code
of Conduct during the year ended 31 March 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board meets regularly for considering, reviewing and/or approving
matters relating to, among others, the financial and operating
performance, as well as, the overall strategies and policies of the
Company. Additional meetings are held when significant events or
important issues are required to be discussed and resolved.

The Directors’ responsibilities include, inter alia:

e To attend regular Board meetings focusing on business strategy,
operational issues and financial performance;

e To approve annual budgets for each operating company covering
strategy, financial and business performance, key risks and
opportunities;

e To monitor the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of
internal and external reporting;

e To consider and approve the consolidated financial statements in
quarterly, interim and annual reports, announcements and press

releases of quarterly, interim and annual results;

e To focus on matters affecting the Company’s overall strategic
policies, finances and interest of the Shareholders;

e  To consider dividend policy and dividend amount; and
e To review and monitor the corporate governance policies and
practices of the Group to ensure compliance with the legal and

regulatory requirements.

The Company has taken out director and officer liability insurance to
cover liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Composition
The composition of the Board up to the date of this report is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kwong Chi Man (Chairman)
(re-elected on 3 August 2018)

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer)
(elected on 3 August 2018)

Mr. Yip Wai Man (re-elected on 3 August 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo (re-elected on 30 August 2019)
Mr. Law Pui Cheung (re-elected on 30 August 2019)

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan (re-elected on 30 August 2019)

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among members of the Board.

All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The profiles of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 7 to 10
of this report.

With the various experience of the executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) and the nature of
the Group’s business, the Company recognises the benefits of having
a Board with well-balanced experience and qualification to maintain
a sustainable business development of the Group in long run. In
recognition of the Company’s commitment to a well-balanced Board,
the nomination committee of the Company is entrusted to review the
Company’s human resources policy and recruitment process to ensure
the effectiveness of the policy.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In compliance with rule 5.05A, 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three INEDs representing at least one-third
of the Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.
As such, there is a strong element in the Board to provide independent
judgment.

In accordance with code provision A.4.1 of the Code, the Company has
entered into a letter of appointment with each of the INEDs for a term of
three years and will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving not less than three months’ written notice to the other party.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company considers the INEDs to be independent as at the date of
this report.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a fixed term of three years and will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ written
notice to the other party.

The service agreements and/or letters of appointment of the Directors
are subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms.
They can be renewed in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company (“Articles”) and the applicable GEM Listing Rules.

As required under the Articles, all Directors are subject to election by
the Shareholders at the Company at the first general meeting after their
appointment. At every annual general meeting of the Company at least
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election
thereat.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE

An annual general meeting was held on 30 August 2019 during the year
ended 31 March 2020 with all Directors present throughout the meeting.
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NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE
Four Board meetings were respectively held on 21 June 2019, 8 August
2019, 7 November 2019 and 10 February 2020 during the year ended
31 March 2020. The individual attendance record of the Board meetings
is set out as follows:
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Number of Board Meetings
attended/eligible to attend

BHE/AERLE
Name of Directors EEpA ESEE2NEE
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BEXEE 4/4
Mr. Yip Kong Lok ERgtn At 4/4
Mr. Yip Wai Man EREXEE 4/4
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REBEELT 3/4
Mr. Law Pui Cheung BHEkE 3/4
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan [ERERT 2t & 4/4
FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT EEEREEENRA
The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of ZEEFS@EBANFTEBLRELNETE  IHEE

the Company and ensures that it is managed in the best interests of the
Shareholders as a whole while taking into account the interest of other
stakeholders. The Board is primarily responsible for formulating the
business strategy, reviewing and monitoring the business performance
of the Group, approving the financial statements and annual budgets
as well as directing and supervising the management of the Company.
Execution of operational matters and the powers thereof are delegated
to the management by the Board with clear directions. The Board is
regularly provided with management report to give a balanced and
understandable assessment of the performance, position, recent
development and prospect of the Group in sufficient details.

The Board is also responsible for the corporate governance functions
under code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. The Board has reviewed
and discussed the corporate governance policy of the Group and is
satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy.
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DIRECTOR TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist the Directors’ continuing professional development, the
Company recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Directors also participate
in continuous professional development programmes such as external
seminars and forums organised by qualified professionals, to develop
and refresh their knowledge as to the industry and skills in relation to
their contribution to the Board.

All the Directors understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participate any suitable training to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Company has maintained the training record in respect of each
Director. There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to Directors by the Company
whenever necessary.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four Board committees, namely, the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and
the legal compliance committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been established with
their respective written terms of reference. All the Board committees
should report to the Board on their decisions and works. The practices,
procedures and arrangements of conduct of committee meetings follow
in line with, so far as practicable, those of the Board meetings and their
respective terms of reference.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company's expenses.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 24 September 2016 with its written terms of reference in
compliance with in compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules
and code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to review and supervise the Company’s financial
reporting process and internal control system, nominate and monitor
external auditors and to provide advice and comments to the Board on
matters related to corporate governance.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Law Pui
Cheung, Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo and Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan. Mr. Law
Pui Cheung currently serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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Four Audit Committee meetings were respectively held on 21 June
2019, 8 August 2019, 7 November 2019 and 10 February 2020 during
the year ended 31 March 2020. The individual attendance record of the
meetings of the Audit Committee is set out as follows:
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Number of meetings
of the Audit Committee
attended/eligible to attend

BHE/AERLE
Name of Directors EEpA EREESSENEE
Mr. Law Pui Cheung BMERAE 4/4
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo FHRELL 3/4
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan [ERERT 2t & 4/4

The Audit Committee has reviewed (i) the Group’s audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020; and (ii) the
Group’s financing, internal control and risk management system.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee’) was established on 24 September 2016 with its written
terms of reference in compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the board on the remuneration policy and structure
of the Directors and senior management of the Group, and determine,
with delegated responsibilities from the Board, the remuneration
packages of individual Directors and senior management of the
Company.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, being
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan, Mr. Kwong Chi Man and Ms. Yu Wan Wah
Amparo. Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan currently serves as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.
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One Remuneration Committee meeting was held on 10 February 2020
for the year ended 31 March 2020. The individual attendance record of
the meetings of the Remuneration Committee is set out as follows:

RBE-_T-_TF-A=1—HILF
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Number of meetings of the
Remuneration Committee
attended/eligible to attend

BHE/EERLRE
Name of Directors BEpA FHEEESENEE
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan [ERERT A 1/1
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BRESE 1/1
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REBELL 11

The Directors and senior management of the Company receive
compensation in the form of director fees, salaries, benéefits in kind and/
or discretionary bonuses with reference to those paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and the performance of the Group. The
Remuneration Committee will review and determine, with delegated
responsibilities from the Board, the remuneration and compensation
packages of individual Directors and senior management of the
Company with reference to their responsibilities, workload, and the time
devoted to the Group and the performance of the Group.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 24 September 2016 with its written
terms of reference in compliance with code provision A.5.2 of the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on
the Board and/or in senior management of the Company.

The Nomination Committee should consider a number of factors in
assessing, evaluating and selecting candidates for the directorships
based on the Group’s nomination policy. These factors include (i)
character and integrity; (i) qualifications and experience that are
relevant to the Company’s business and strategy; (iii) commitment to
devote sufficient time to discharge the duties as a member of the Board
and other directorship; (iv) diversity in all aspects in order to achieve
the diversity of the Board; (v) independence requirement with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules when evaluating the suitability of the candidates to be INEDs; and
(vi) such other factors which are appropriate to the Company’s business
and strategy.
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The Nomination Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Kwong
Chi Man, Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo and Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan.
Mr. Kwong Chi Man currently serves as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

One Nomination Committee meeting was held on 21 June 2019 during
the year ended 31 March 2020. The individual attendance record of the
meetings of the Nomination Committee is set out as follows:
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Number of meetings of the
Nomination Committee
attended/eligible to attend

BHE/SERLE
Name of Directors EEHA REZESEENEE
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BEX AL 11
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo RBELT A
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan [ERERT 2t & 1/1
Legal Compliance Committee EEEHREES
The legal compliance committee of the Company (the ‘Legal ZARRIZEZABEES (EREGFEEE)N
Compliance Committee”) was established on 24 September 2016 with —Z— X FAA-TMAKY  EEZEBESE
its written terms of reference by reference to the code provisions of ZBAEEETANSTAEN - FEEHBELES

the CG Code. The primary duties of the Legal Compliance Committee
are to assist the Board in overseeing the Group’s compliance with laws
and regulations relevant to its business operations and to review the
effectiveness of the Group’s regulatory compliance procedures and
system.

The Legal Compliance Committee consists of three members, being
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo, Mr. Law Pui Cheung and Mr. Wat Danny Hiu
Yan. Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo currently serves as the chairlady of the
Legal Compliance Committee.
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One Legal Compliance Committee meeting was held on 10 February
2020 during the year ended 31 March 2020. The individual attendance
record of the meeting of the Legal Compliance Committee is set out as
follows:

FREAHEEeNEBE-_E-_TE=A=1+—H
HEEE-_ S -_TF-_A+HEBTT —XEH -
FRAEZECEENENEHFELEHIM
T

Number of meetings of the
Legal Compliance Committee
attended/eligible to attend
BHE/RERLRE

Name of Directors EEpg FEEREEEEENEE
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REBELL 11
Mr. Law Pui Cheung BMELE 0/1
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan JEEERT 4 1/1

DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD

In order to ensure the balanced composition and effectiveness of the
Board, the Company has accordingly adopted a Board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”), which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skill, knowledge and length of service. The
Board appointments will be based on the performance and competence
of the candidates, and the merit and contribution to be brought to the
Board by the selected candidates.

The Board will review such objectives from time to time to ensure their
appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards achieving
those objectives. The Nomination Committee will review the Board
Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
The existing Board members are coming from a variety of business
and professional background, the Company considers that the Board
possesses a balance of skills, experience, expertise and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business.

The Nomination Committee will report annually on the Board’s
composition under diversified perspectives in the Corporate
Governance Report, and monitor the implementation of the diversity
policy to ensure its effectiveness and compliance with the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee will consider any revisions that may be
required and propose recommendation to the Board for consideration
and approval.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK ASSESSMENT

The Board is responsible for the Group’s internal control and has
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control of
the Group, including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions. No material inadequacy of internal
controls has been revealed in terms of risk management in the Group’s
decision-making process.

A staff in the finance department was assigned to perform the internal
audit functions as part of her job and she reports the audit's findings
to the Audit Committee. She mainly reviews and tests the control of the
Group’s major operational, financial, compliance and risk management
based on the Group’s policies. She communicates the findings, control
deficiencies and remedial actions with the management and Audit
Committee for improvement of the Group’s internal control system.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has reviewed (i)
implementation of information technology measures for the first quarter
of the financial year; (ii) procurement and account payable cycle by
selecting samples from suppliers and subcontractors; (iii) sales and
receivable cycle by selecting certain projects for review; and (iv)
stock take procedures. The internal audit staff reported that the Group
normally followed and fulfilled the related policies and procedures, and
suggestions were reported to the Audit Committee. The management
has implemented certain follow-up measures based on the internal audit
findings.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
of the results and cash flows for that year. The Directors continue
to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the consolidated
financial statements and are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditors about their financial
reporting are set out in the independent auditor’s report attached to
the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2020 in this report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the remuneration paid or payable
to PricewaterhouseCoopers (as the auditors of the Company) and its
affiliate companies in respect of audit and non-audit services were
HK$920,000 and HK$35,000 respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Wai Hung (“Mr. Choi”), an employee of the Company, was
appointed by the Board as the secretary of the Company on 15
December 2017. The biographical details of Mr. Choi are set out under
the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” in this
report. Mr. Choi is principally responsible for supervision of the Group’s
financial reporting, financial planning, treasury, financial control and
company secretarial matters.

Mr. Choi had confirmed that he had taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2020.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting on Requisition by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it
thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”). EGMs
shall also be convened on the requisition of two or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition, and such meeting shall be held within 3
months after the deposit of such requisition. If, within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting within a
further 21 days, the requisitionists themselves may convene a meeting
in accordance with the Articles and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisition(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send their written enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Procedure for shareholders to put forward proposals at shareholders’
meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions
at the general meetings of the Company under the Companies Law
(Revised) of Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles,
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by means of
requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set out above.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group has established its dividend policy which aims to provide
a transparency of the mechanism used for determination of the
dividend amount and payment as well as to notify Shareholders
and other persons concerned of the dividend policy of the Group. It
broadly specifies the external and internal factors, including financial
parameters, that shall be considered while declaring dividend and the
circumstances under which the Shareholders of the Group may or may
not expect dividend and how the retained earnings shall be utilized.

The Board will review and monitor the implementation of the Group’s
dividend policy from time to time.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and
activities.

The Company’s annual, interim and quarterly reports and circulars are
printed and sent to all Shareholders.

Moreover, announcements, circulars, publications and press releases of the
Company are published on the Company’s website at www.kmk.com.hk.
The Company’s website disseminates corporate information and other
relevant financial and non-financial information electronically on a timely
basis.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with Shareholders and the Directors and the
members of the Board committees are encouraged to attend and
answer questions raised by Shareholders at the general meetings.

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with Shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board is
committed to ensuring that the Shareholders are provided with ready,
equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company so as to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights
in an informed manner, and to allow Shareholders to engage actively
with the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year ended 31 March 2020, there has been no significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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The Board hereby present the Directors’ report and the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is the investment holding company of the Group. The
Group is principally engaged in car park flooring industry in Hong
Kong and Macau. We provide (i) flooring services, which involve
the application of proprietary floor coating products for the purpose
of providing a colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing surface that is
resistant against water and petrochemicals; (ii) ancillary services, which
include specialised texture painting and waterproofing works; and (iii)
others - sales of car park flooring materials.

For further particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group, details of which
are set out in Note 29(a) to the consolidated financial statements in this
report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the development, performance or position of the Group’s business,
details are set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on
pages 5 to 6 and the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 11 to 15 of this report.

For the principal financial risks and uncertainties facing the Company,
details are set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements in
this report.

(A) Environmental policies and performance
The Board is aware that addressing environmental concerns is an
important issue for contributing to the continuous development of
society (along with the business activities of the Company).

The Group’s operation is not subject to any environmental
requirements in Hong Kong, except the Dangerous Goods
Ordinance (Chapter 295 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
‘Dangerous Goods Ordinance”), and that some of the works
conducted by the Group are subject to environmental compliance
examination under The Hong Kong Green Building Council’s
“BEAM Plus”
environmental management system in conformity with the

scheme. The Group has established effective

international standard requirements, for the provision of design,
construction, installation and maintenance services to the

customers.
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(B)

(€)

An environmental policy and manual of procedures have been
effective upon listing of the shares of the Company on GEM, which
demonstrate the Group’s commitment to environmental protection.
All staff, subcontractors and suppliers are required to diligently
implement the policy and the manual, which will be reviewed
regularly in light of experience, feedback from staff, business
development, current regulations and legislation.

Compliance with laws and regulations

Apart from the licensing requirement under the Dangerous Goods
Ordinance, the Group is not subject to any requirement to obtain
any particular approval or permit for carrying out the car park
flooring business in Hong Kong. The Dangerous Goods Ordinance
controls the usage, storage, manufacturing and conveyance of the
dangerous goods under the ordinance and sets out the relevant
licensing requirements in relation to these activities.

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by its subsidiaries in
Hong Kong and Macau with the Company itself incorporated in the
Cayman Islands.

To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, the Group’s
operations in Hong Kong and Macau have complied with the
applicable laws and regulations in the above jurisdictions in all
material respects during the year ended 31 March 2020, and up to
the date of this report.

Key relationships with employees, customers, suppliers and
subcontractors

The Directors are of the view that the Company has maintained
good relationship with its employees, customers, suppliers and
subcontractors. During the year ended 31 March 2020, there
were no material or significant dispute between the Group and its
employees, customers, suppliers and subcontractors.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 are
presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
page 54 of this report.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, a final dividend of HKO0.7 cents
per share of the Company (the “Share(s)”) was declared to the
Shareholders.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2020.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the years ended 31 March 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020 are set out
on page 120 of this report. The financial information for the year ended
31 March 2016 is extracted from the prospectus of the Company dated
30 September 2016 (the “Prospectus”). Such summary does not form
part of the consolidated financial statements in this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in Note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements in this report. These transactions
did not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which were required to comply with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
during the financial year.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
the Company or the laws of the Cayman lIslands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to its existing
Shareholders.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 24 September 2016 (the “Adoption Date”). The
terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions

of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The following is a summary of

the principal terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (fulltime and part-time), directors, consultants,
advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners and services providers of the Group and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.

Who may join and basis of eligibility

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms
as it may think fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time),
director, consultant or adviser of the Group, or any substantial
shareholder of the Group, or any distributor, contractor, supplier,
agent, customer, business partner or service provider of the
Group, options to subscribe at a price calculated in accordance
with paragraph (iii) below for such number of Shares as it may
determine in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme. The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of
any option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may
be, the INEDs) from time to time on the basis of his contribution or
potential contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

Price of Shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price
solely determined by the Board and notified to a participant and
shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option;
and (i) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the
option, provided always that for the purpose of calculating the
subscription price, where the Company has been listed on the
Stock Exchange for less than five business days, the new issue
price shall be used as the closing price for any business day fall
within the period before listing.
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(iv)

1.

Grant of options and acceptance of offers

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The
amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on
acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.

Maximum number of Shares

subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) below, the maximum
number of Shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company as from the Adoption Date
(excluding, for this purpose, Shares issuable upon exercise
of options which have been granted but which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
or any other share option schemes of the Company) must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of all the Shares in issue.
Therefore, the Company may grant options in respect of up to
60,000,000 Shares (or such numbers of Shares as shall result
from a sub-division or a consolidation of such 60,000,000
Shares from time to time) to the participants under the Share
Option Scheme.

The 10% limit as mentioned above may be refreshed at
any time by obtaining approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting provided that the total number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshed limit. Options previously granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including those outstanding, cancelled or lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
or any other share option schemes of the Company) will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the refreshed 10%
limit. A circular must be sent to the Shareholders containing
the information as required under the GEM Listing Rules in
this regard.
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(vi)

(vii)

the Company may seek separate approval of the
Shareholders in general meeting for granting options beyond
the 10% limit provided the options in excess of the 10% limit
are granted only to grantees specifically identified by the
Company before such approval is sought. In such event, the
Company must send a circular to the Shareholders containing
a generic description of such grantees, the number and terms
of such options to be granted and the purpose of granting
options to them with an explanation as to how the terms of
the options will serve such purpose, such other information
required under the GEM Listing Rules.

The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other share
option schemes of the Company if this will result in such 30%
limit being exceeded.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted to any participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. Any further grant of
options in excess of such limit must be separately approved
by Shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and his
close associates (or his associates if the grantee is a connected
person) abstaining from voting. In such event, the Company
must send a circular to the Shareholders containing the identity
of the grantee, the number and terms of the options to be
granted (and options previously granted to such grantee), and
all other information required under the GEM Listing Rules.
The number and terms (including the subscription price) of the
options to be granted must be fixed before the approval of the
Shareholders and the date of the Board meeting proposing
such further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the
purpose of calculating the subscription price.

Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.
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(viii) Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten
years commencing on the date on the Adoption Date and shall
expire at the close of business on the business day immediately
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless terminated earlier

by the Shareholders in general meeting.

No share option has been granted or exercised under the Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2020. No share option was
outstanding as at 31 March 2020.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31 March 2020.

DEBENTURE
No debenture was issued by the Company during the year ended 31
March 2020.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as the share option scheme as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Share Option Scheme” in this Directors’ report, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company or subsisted during the
year ended 31 March 2020 which (a) will or may result in the Company
issuing shares; or (ii) requires the Company to enter into an agreement
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into

by the Company.

DONATION
The charitable donation made by the Group for the year ended 31
March 2020 amounted to approximately HK$25,000.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, each Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her as a Director in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in
his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
claims and legal actions against the Directors and its officers.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(A) Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions

in the Shares, underlying Shares and debenture of the
Company or any associated corporation

As at 31 March 2020, the interests or short positions of the
Directors or chief executive officer of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of the
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities & Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO")) which were notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including any interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Long Position in the Shares RR G EIIFE
Number of Approximate
Shares held percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest or interested shareholding
BEREEEDS
EEMA BmME MNRODBE BAORERDE
Mr. Kwong Chi Man Interest in controlled 386,016,000 64.34%

(“Mr. Kwong") corporation (Note 1)
BE et ((BEE]) REZHER 2 #aw
(PE1)
Note 1:  Mr. Kwong beneficially owns 70% of the issued share capital

of Sage City Investments Limited (“Sage City”), the beneficial
owner holding 64.34% shareholding in the Company. Therefore,
Mr. Kwong is deemed to be interested in all the Shares which
are beneficially owned by Sage City for the purpose of the SFO.
Mr. Kwong is the chairman and an executive Director of the

Company, and also a director of Sage City.
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Long position in the shares of associated corporation

Name of Director Nature of interest

RIGBZER 7 B4 B

Number of
shares held
or interested Approximate
in associated percentage of

corporation shareholding

EERHEEREN
EENE EatE BB ZEROEE BARET D
Mr. Yip Kong Lok (“Mr. Yip”) Beneficial owner (Note 2) 3,000 shares 30% in
in Sage City Sage City
EAEE(EEE]) EmEE A (Fi2) M Sage Cityfy M Sage City#y
3,000/ B% 17 30% &=
Note 2:  Mr. Yip is an executive Director and chief executive officer of the st : EEEAKRATNMITESHRITHE
Company. oo
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the B ENHEEEN RZEZTF=A=1—

Directors or chief executive officer of the Company had any
interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of the associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by the
Directors, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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(B) Substantial Shareholders’ and other persons’ interests

and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debenture of the Company

So far as the Directors were aware, as at 31 March 2020, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive
officer of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who were recorded in
the register of interests required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
E E g R &

(B) TERRREMALERLATRS - BE

ROKREERTFHEENEZRAR

HEHERMA R-ZE-_TE=-R=+—-1H"
MTALT(EHARAESTHERTHRA
B)RBRmIBARNFEBREE %&Hﬁ
‘bﬂwmxv*%%z&yh BEXARAR

BRATEBHER R ﬁ’aﬁiagaﬂﬁ/\\
$E%f§*’*ﬁ&ﬁﬂ 1*15'7']5@3361\ BEENER
% 50 1B 79 B 4 s A

Long Position in the Shares KRR G E
Number of
Shares held Percentage of
Name Nature of Interest or interested shareholding
FERBERR
BEMA BEME MR HE BRETDL
Sage City Beneficial interest (Note 1) 386,016,000 64.34%
Sage City Emiges (M)
Ms. Li Chuen Chun Interest of spouse (Note 2) 386,016,000 64.34%
FEYRL foE s (M2)
Notes: BisT -

1. Sage City is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
is owned by Mr. Kwong and Mr. Yip as to 70% and 30%, respectively.
Mr. Kwong is the chairman, an executive Director of the Company,
and also a director of Sage City. Mr. Yip is an executive Director and

chief executive officer of the Company.

2. Ms. Li Chuen Chun is the spouse of Mr. Kwong and is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Kwong is interested for the

purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Directors
were aware that any persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive officer of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who were required to
be recorded in the register of interests required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & X

1. Sage City DREBRABEEFMALZR
B UHBEERELESEBTO% R
0% Ewm c BAEERARAERRANITE
E LA KSage CityZz £5 « EE4E AARDQA
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DIRECTORS AND THEIR SERVICE CONTRACTS
The composition of the Board up to the date of this report is set out as
follows.

Executive Directors
Mr. Kwong Chi Man (Chairman) (re-elected on 3 August 2018)

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer) (elected on 3 August 2018)
Mr. Yip Wai Man (re-elected on 3 August 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo (re-elected on 30 August 2019)
Mr. Law Pui Cheung (re-elected on 30 August 2019)

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan (re-elected on 30 August 2019)

Each Director has entered into a service agreement or letter of
appointment with the Company for a fixed term of three years and will
continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ written notice to the other party.

Biography details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 7 to 10 of this
report.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company considers the INEDs to be independent as at the date of
this report.

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreement with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emolument of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in Notes 20 and 25 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration committee of the Board will make recommendations
on the remuneration policy and structure of the Directors and senior
management. The remuneration committee regularly reviews and
determines, with delegated responsibilities from the Board, the
remuneration and compensation packages of individual Directors and
senior management by reference to, among other things, market level
of remuneration and compensation paid by comparable companies, the
respective responsibilities of the Directors and the performance of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

Save as the transactions set out in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report, the Group has not entered into any
transaction, arrangement or contract that is significant in relation to the
Group’s business to which any of member of the Group was a party and
in which a Director or a connected entity of that Director had, directly or
indirectly, a material interest.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Other than members of the Group, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has
interest in any business which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

INTEREST OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Directors are not aware of any
business or interest of the controlling shareholder of the Company nor
any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
that compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2020.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Kwong and Sage City (together the “Covenantors”) entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Group (the “Deed of
Non-competition”) on 24 September 2016, details of which are set out
in the section headed “Relationship with Our Controlling Shareholders
- Deed of non-competition” in the Prospectus (the “Non-competition
Undertaking”).
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The Company received from each of the Covenantors an annual
confirmation on their respective compliance of the Non-competition
Undertaking. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the compliance of the Non-competition Undertaking and evaluated the
effective implementation of the Deed of Non-competition, and they were
satisfied with the Covenantors’ compliance with the Non-competition
Undertaking for the year ended 31 March 2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

During the year ended 31 March 2020, neither the Company nor
its subsidiaries has entered into a contract by which (a) a person
undertakes the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company; and (b) the contract is
not a contract of service with any Director or any person engaged in the
full-time employment of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 39.2% of the total revenue of the Group
and the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately
11.1% of the total revenue.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or
any of their respective close associates, or any shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest
customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND SUBCONTRACTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s five largest suppliers
and subcontractors accounted for approximately 80.2% of the total
direct costs of the Group and the largest supplier and subcontractor of
the Group accounted for approximately 49.4% of the total direct costs.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or
any of their respective close associates, or any Shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest
suppliers and subcontractors.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2020 will be published around September
2020 based on the Group’s ESG Code in compliance with the
requirements of Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The corporate governance report of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2020 is set out on pages 16 to 29 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the
public float of the Company’s issued securities is sufficient with at least
25% held by the public.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to the Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately HK$17.8 million.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”). PwC will
retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company scheduled on 27
August 2020. A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the said annual general meeting.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Board is not aware of any events after the reporting period that
requires disclosure.

By order of the Board
Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
Mr. Kwong Chi Man
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 19 June 2020
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To the Shareholders of Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 52
to 119, which comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2020;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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BASIS FOR OPINION (Continued)
Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial B4z
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
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and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 8 o

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
o Revenue recognition on construction contracts

o Impairment of trade and retention receivables and contract assets o

Key Audit Matters
BEETEA

BMEFTENBERETEEMEDT -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
HMWET AR IERAR E T B8

Revenue recognition on construction contracts

BESHNWREER

Refer to Notes 2.17, 4(a) and 5 to the consolidated
financial statements for the disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and
estimates.

ARAMBEGTBR - 2 RMAFORE -
FBREM 217 ~ 4(a) &5

EFJ/ ﬁ'ﬂi:\/fl\

For the year ended 31 March 2020, revenue from
construction contracts was approximately HK$94.8
million (2019' approximately HK$117.9 million).
BE_Z_ZTF=-A=1t—HILFE BESHK
ﬁﬁ%@94,800,000/%7z(_?—ﬂ¢ : #7117,900,0007%
7T) °

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X 32 & B B R

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition on construction
contracts included:

BAEAREANNUSRREFBT

Obtained an understanding of the Group’s control
processes, evaluated and validated key controls over
revenues recognition on construction contracts;
T EEENEHRER RIS FERES OO RSRE
RERAGES o

Enquired about and assessed management’s assumptions
on estimated costs to complete for a sample of projects,
including future subcontracting and material costs, by
referring to actual costs incurred for previously completed
projects. We also tested the mathematical accuracy of the
estimated costs to complete.

BA2EARITREIE R NERKA  SRMTEERELH T
X — A B AR EE AN KRR - BERRND BIMEK
A HATOME T 5T TR AR SRR -

Tested the total cost incurred as at the end of the reporting
period, on a sample basis, by checking to the underlying
documents supporting these costs (including invoices of
material costs and subcontracting fees). This included
performing cut-off testing on a sample basis for the revenue
recognised near the end of the reporting period, by
checking the appropriateness of the revenue journal entry
timing
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

RMOFSTOAEEERETSEE

Revenue recognition on construction contracts (Continued)

BESHNKZER (F)

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised
based on the stage of completion of the Group’s
projects, which is calculated as a ratio of “total
cost incurred” to “total estimated costs for each
project”. Based on the stage of completion, the
Group recognises revenue as a percentage of the
total contract amount at the end of a reporting
period.

BEANEERR BEXEBEEATHEE (RIEHEF
BRI BR AT BT B RO EH A | L R EH ) B8
R RIBTHEE X BEEBERETHRRERDE
BOME B ERE -

Management judgement is involved in the
estimation of total cost to complete, including
assessment of future cost of materials and
subcontracting costs.

A EB TR AR A S R EREHE - BEFER
RMBRARD BRA -

We focused on this area as the determination
of stage of completion for a project involves
significant management judgement, which in turn
affects the recognition of revenue for the Group.
BAETBILERRRA/BE THERNEE S K
BREBREHE #EMTyE ESBEMKEER -
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- Discussed the status of projects under construction with
management to determine whether there could be other
factors affecting the calculation of stage of completion,
for example potential claims, by checking to subsequent
events and financial information available to us.

- BARSHENEHRAMAEGNNBEN  REBEN
wEIHFREANARANEE SR EEMRARTE (HIMEER
R)TRERNGE -

Based on our audit procedures performed, we found that the
recognition of construction contract revenue based on stage of
completion was supported by the available evidence.
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AR REFT IR o



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matters
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
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Impairment of trade and retention receivables
and contract assets

RERESRARERRESURENEENHERR

Refer to Notes 2.9, 3.1(b), 4(b), 9 and 11 to
the consolidated financial statements for the
disclosures of the related accounting policies,
judgements and estimates.
FAMMET R - AE RMAFORE &
BB REM 2.9 3.1(b) ~ 4(b) 9Kk 11 e
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As at 31 March 2020, the Group had gross trade
and retention receivables and contract assets
of approximately HK$38.5 million and HK$10.1
million (2019: approximately HK$36.3 million and
HK$5.4 million) and provision for impairment of
approximately HK$2.4 million and HK$0.2 million
(2019: HK$1.5 million and Nil).

RZZE-ZF=A=+—H BEEERKEZEREX
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Management performed the impairment
assessment of trade and retention receivables and
contract assets based on the information included
but not limited to the credit profile of different
customers, the aging profiles, their knowledge
about the customers, market conditions and past
settlement patterns. Management also considered
forward-looking information that may impact
the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the expected credit
loss for the impairment assessment.

ERERE(BRRR) TREPHEERR  BREE
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Our procedures in relation to Impairment of trade and retention
receivables and contract assets included:

ZMBREUEZER BEREERAOEERENEFEHE

- Obtained an understanding of the Group’s control processes,

evaluated and validated the design and operating
effectiveness of the key controls over debt collection and the
impairment assessment process, in particular those over the
identification of impaired receivables and the calculation of
the impairment provision.

TR EEEOZRERF  ERARABRDER KREN G
12 Fr B A SR 12 I O RR AT BB MERCRR » R RI R A B335l B RUE FE 1L
RNt B E R S -

- Tested the accuracy of the ageing of trade and retention

receivables on a sample basis by tracing to the respective
invoices.

PUBMEREZM A - s RN E B R MR R RE
BRH)ERENE o

- Assessed the appropriateness of the expected credit losses

provisioning methodology.

AHEEBEREBRRFETANAEN -

- Enquired about and assessed the information used to

determine the expected credit losses by considering the cash
collection performance against historical trends, the level
of credit loss changes over time and the reasonableness of
forward - looking information.
BENELBEEZRRWRER - EEBERKTRERRENZE
DEATREERMARY  HETHEBEEEERMERNEHR
REEHRAAETE -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

BMOFTOAEREERETEE

Impairment of trade and retention receivables
and contract assets (Continued)

RURESRARERRBESURESNEENRER S (B)

We focused on this area because trade and
retention receivables and contract assets represent
57% of current assets and certain balances are
long aged. There is also significant judgement
used to measure the estimated amount under the
expected credit loss model.
BAETHINSERARELE SRS LEKRE
EUREHNEEERDEENSTS  E THEBRER
HRE - ARG ERBEEEREA TR 8D
FEELERHAE

Discussed with management the recoverability of individually
significant receivables,
explanations by checking to the status of underlying projects,
information about contracted parties and subsequent

corroborating management

settlements,
subsequent settlement on a sample basis by checking to the
underlying bank pay-in slips.

if any. We also tested the existence of

HEREN®ENEZNEYGRNAKEKE - BBREAE
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We found that management's assessment of the impairment of
trade and retention receivables and contract assets was supported

by the available audit evidence.
KEMARERESRKE SRR RERRE S URENEEREBERED
At R A S R TR E AT R o

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in “Corporate
Information”, “Chairman’s Statement”, “Profile of Directors and Senior
“Corporate

Management”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”,

Governance Report”, “Director’'s Report” and “Five-Year Financial
Summary” (but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date
of this auditor’s report, and “Environmental Social Governance Report”,

which is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read “Environmental Social Governance Report”, if we
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required
to communicate the matter to audit committee and take appropriate
action considering our legal rights and obligations.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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. AUDITOR’S REPORT

H & &

- AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

s part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

|dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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S FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Chung Kit Yi, Kitty.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 19 June 2020

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & XX

FREMERIN  RARBRRBQBETS
EHE - BETHE EAESERT BER
{PIEEF T 85 L A BR A ) ) (R (T KR PG

BMEAERZECREXER  HAARMENA
BBV ENERERERER  YRBMER
AR A EMERRE Y ERIIE LA
EMEMER  UREBARNERT - HENH
HIFHE

NEBRZZEEARMNERT  AAEETHLE
BHARGAMBRENBARAEE - AME
REARETFE - RMEZBARS TR EL
BH BRIFEAREATANARAKEELSE -
FEBHERNBERT MRS ERBERMR
BRERRFRENMNAARRBRELNAR
M BARETEERSTERAETR

IABURBMREENETREABARE

o

BARKBEAERM
HEEFED

&% —2-BFAATAR

ctEEAER2F |

oll



(In HK$) (BT BET) BT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BER&E 6
Right-of-use assets ERREEE 7
Current assets nEEE
Inventories wE 8
Trade and retention receivables EWE SRR R

YRS & 9
Prepayments and other receivables AN FRIE I E fth 8 e 3R IB 10
Contract assets EHEE 11
Cash and cash equivalents e RREEED 12
Total assets BERE
EQUITY =
Share capital L% 13
Reserves i
Retained earnings RE & F
Non-controlling interests FERER
Total equity R A5
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40,845,046

40,845,046

11,862,372

34,817,020
1,271,401
5,394,559

23,627,331

76,972,683

117,817,729

6,000,000
61,283,063
15,793,515

83,076,578
(15,098)

83,061,480



(In HK$) (BT B EN) HisE
LIABILITIES =L

Non-current liabilities FRBEE

Deferred income tax liabilities BRIEMGHERE 14
Lease liabilities HE&RE 7
Finance lease payables ENRERE 18
Current liabilities REEE

Trade payables B8 SRR 15
Accruals and other payables FEFTE A I E b FE 5 5B 16
Contract liabilities BHEE 11
Bank borrowings RITEE 17
Lease liabilities HEBRE 7
Finance lease payables ERNRERE 18
Current income tax liabilities B SR & &

Total liabilities BERE

Total equity and liabilities EakBERE

The notes on pages 58 to 119 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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49,400

414,976

464,376

16,724,380
2,009,452
3,702,276

10,748,991

393,411
713,363

34,291,873

34,756,249

117,817,729

The consolidated financial statements on pages 52 to 119 were approved by the Board of Directors on 19 June 2020 and

were signed on its behalf.

E2EOB AN B RBEEEN S _SF AT NARAETAHUTEETREES -

Mr. Kwong Chi Man
BURE
Director

EF

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & X

Mr. Yip Kong Lok
ERgrsE
Director

EF

KEBERALA
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For the year ended 31l!a;
Y,
|

. d

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE

EORCREEHA = HILERE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1T—HLFE

Note 2020 2019
(In HK$) (UETREN) BifE ZEZRF “E-NEF
Revenue I &= 5 95,024,421 117,922,836
Cost of sales HER A 19 (65,644,929) (85,195,317)
Gross profit ER 29,379,492 32,727,519
Other (losses)/gains Hi (E518) /s (9,681) 69,018
Impairment loss on trade and retention EWE SRR R ERRE S
receivables and contract assets URAEHNEEZRERSE 9 11 (1,028,640) (242,240)
General and administrative expenses — R RITHRAX 19 (20,406,014) (20,750,594)
Operating profit FEE= Pl 7,935,157 11,808,703
Finance costs, net CUR IR 21 (316,847) (303,561)
Profit before income tax R P75 %56 Al g Al 7,618,310 11,500,142
Income tax expense FigRiF X 22 (1,482,564) (1,550,729)
Profit for the year FERF 6,135,746 9,949,413
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: EEEERR (BE)
- Owners of the Company —ARNEEEA 6,212,831 9,979,511
- Non-controlling interests — IR R (77,085) (30,098)
6,135,746 9,949,413
Other comprehensive loss: Hih2EEE
ltem that may be reclassified to profit or loss ARt EH D EE B ER
- Exchange difference on translation of —BREINEERZER
foreign operations =8 (804) -
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax EmemERE  NRTHE (804) =
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2EKR=EH 6,134,942 9,949,413
Total comprehensive income/(loss) EEEERE (BE)
attributable to: HE
- Owners of the Company S UNEIESZ DN 6,212,027 9,979,511
- Non-controlling interests —JEFE R fE (77,085) (30,098)
6,134,942 9,949,413
Earnings per share attributable to owners AQFHEE ABEERER
of the Company
- Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) —EARNREE (FRAEN) 24 1.04 1.66

The notes on pages 58 to 119 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
FE8ENIAZMF ARG MK AR D -
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Attributable to owners of the Company

ADNARBARLE
Non-
Share Share Capital Shareholder Translation  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve contribution reserve  earnings Total interests Total

B RPEE  ERRE  RREE  AERG  REEW & FERER a5t
(Note 13(a)) (Note 13(a)) (Note 13(b)) (Note 13(c))

(In HK$) (WEnkEl)  (MWs@)  (KaE13a) (WE13k)  (HEE13(c)
Balance at 1 April 2018 R=E-NEmA
- A& 6,000,000 52,482,955 108 8,800,000 - 15,466,937 82,750,000 - 82,750,000
Change in accounting policies - &5 TREEH—F B8
HKFRS 9 B Ea| 505 - - - - - (1252933) (1.252933) - (1.252.9%9)
Restated balance at REFIN=2-N\F
1 April 2018 mA-HHES 6,000,000 52,482,955 108 8,800,000 - 14,214,004 81,497,067 - 81,497,067
Profit/(loss) and total EERA/ (BB R
comprehensive income/(loss) 2EkE/ (B8)
for the year k) - - - - - 9979511 9,979,511 (30,098) 9,949,413
Transactions with ownersin S A (KSR
their capacity as owners BEANSR)ES
25
Capital injection from the RA-FNBAREE
non-controlling shareholder ofa ~ RIREE)TE
subsidiary - - - - - - - 15,000 15,000
Dividends (Note 23) RE (Mi223) - - - - ~ (8.400,000)  (8,400,000) = (8400,000)
Total transactions with owners, EEE AETHAR
recognised directly in equity 5 BEREREZ - - - - ~ (8400000) (8400000) 15000  (8385000)
Balance at 31 March 2019 RZB-NEZA
=t-AMLs 6,000,000 52,482,955 108 8,800,000 - 15793515 83,076,578 (15,098) 83,061,480
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Non-
Share Share Capital Shareholder Translation  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve contribution  reserve  earnings Total interests Total
B REE  EARR  RRME  BERR  REED &t FERER @it
(Note 13(a)) (Note 13(a)) (Note 13(b)) (Note 13(c))
(In HKS) (WEnREl)  (MEs@)  (KE13a)  (WE13k)  (HE13(c)
Balance at 1 April 2019 RZZ-NENA
as originally presented — B2 RS 6,000,000 52,482,955 108 8,800,000 - 15,793,515 83,076,578 (15,098) 83,061,480
Change in accounting policies @3 BREH
(Note 2.2) (H222) - - = = = @731)  (2731) (192)  (2,923)
Restated balance at BEFR-E-NE
1 April 2019 WA-HHER 6000000 52482955 108 8,800,000 - 15,790,784 83,073,847 (15,290) 83,058,557
Profit/(loss) for the year FERF/ (BB) = = = = - 6212831 6212831  (77,085) 6,135,746
Other comprehensive loss ~ EEHMZEER
for the year
Exchange differences on RENELEENER
translation of foreign =8
operations - - - - (804) - (804) - (804)
Total comprehensive (loss)  £E2E (F8) /
income for the year gt = = = = (804) 6,212,831 6,212,027 (77,085) 6,134,942
Dividends (Note 23) W (##23) - - - - -~ (4,200,000) (4,200,000) - (4,200,000)
Balance at 31 March 2020 WZBZZF=§
=+-HM&H 6,000,000 52482955 108 8,800,000 (804) 17,803,615 85,085,874 (92,375) 84,993,499

The notes on pages 58 to 119 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
FEEBEV9AZME ARG MIBIHRR <A D -
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_ C_ONSOLIﬁATED STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 March 2020

= &

Note

(In HK$) (LET B E7) i —ECEF —E-NF
Cash flows from operating activities RETBMERENRE
Net cash generated from operations KBS RIE G 27(a) 2,966,904 16,288,987
Income taxes (paid)/refunded (BR) /REMBH (688,922) 613,068
Net cash generated from operating activites R& EESFHEE 2,277,982 16,902,055
Cash flows from investing activities REZHMERLRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ~ B EW¥% BE LR (341,052) (1,458,032)
Interest income received B EHA 57,048 19,624
Net cash used in investing activities REZESHFAERS (284,004) (1,438,408)
Cash flows from financing activities MEZTHMERSRE
Dividends paid BERRE 23 (4,200,000) (8,400,000)
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE 27(d) (618,488) (682,903)
Repayment of finance lease payables EEENREEE 27(d) = (422,301)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREAR 27(d) (815,357) -
Interest paid BERFE (373,895) (323,185)
Capital injection from non-controlling REFEZERBERETE

shareholder - 15,000
Net cash used in financing activities MEEHFAEES (6,007,740) (9,813,389)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BeRBSZEYTF

cash equivalents ORi4) /& n (4,013,762) 5,650,258
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYNRERREEEYD

of the year 23,627,331 17,977,073
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ST R S B B (804) -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year F&RHE 2 REELEEY 19,612,765 28,627,331

The notes on pages 58 to 119 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Kwong Man Kee Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 30 May 2016 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and its principal place
of business is 21/F, The Bedford, 91-93 Bedford Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of engineering services in flooring,
screeding, anti-skid surfacing, specialised texture painting and
waterproofing works. The controlling shareholder of the Company
is Mr. Kwong Chi Man (“Mr. Kwong”) and the parent company of
the Company is Sage City Investments Limited (“Sage City”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

The Company listed its shares on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on 13 October 2016 (the “Listing”).

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(a) New standards and amendments to standards and

interpretation adopted by the Group
The following new standards and amendments to

standards and interpretation are mandatory for the
financial year beginning on 1 April 2019.

2 BABHBEME (&)

21 RAUEE(H)

(a) AEERAFER K ERZEET

MERZ BT

THF R FERI Z B FT 2R
H_F-NFMA—- ALK
B R AR

Standards Subject of amendments ZE B BT 2 EE
HKFRS 16 Leases BEEUBRE HE
R ZF 165
HKFRS 9 (Amendment) Prepayment Features with ERUERE BEEEHEZ
Negative Compensation R FEIHR A B R
(1&7T) 2
HKAS 28 (Amendment) Long-term Interests in AR SR RNEEL DR
Associates and Joint F28% (& BELEZ
Ventures ED) REER
Annual Improvements Annual Improvements FENEEE —ZT—AFE
Project (Amendment) 2015 - 2017 Cycle (1&3T) —T—tF
BHzFEE
U
HKAS 19 (Amendment) Plan Amendment, EheER BB E
Curtailment or Settlement £195% (& k& E
1)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments

EE(RBRNE MEHEEZ

BEREZ
8g)-3%E
235k

THETE 1

Except as disclosed in Note 2.2 for the adoption of
HKFRS 16, the adoption of other new and amended
standards and interpretation did not have any material

BRI 2 2R IR AT BB RE
ERIF1GHAREES - RAHE
TR AR ERTE A M2 B
HAFEREMBTFEELLE
QEVNZ -

impact on the current year or any prior years.
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“'Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b) New standards and amendments to standards that are (b)

21 RREE(H)

not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the

Group

The following new standards and amendments to
standards have been published but are not effective for
accounting period beginning on 1 April 2019 and have

not been early adopted by the Group:

Standards
28|

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 (Amendments)
ER G EAE 1R REEGITER
£85% (153T)

HKFRS 3 (Amendment)
ERMBREERE3% (EFT)

Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018
- \FUBREHIER

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 and

HKFRS 9 (Amendments)

ER G EAEI5 BEMBERE
R ETH KB B S %A
£95% (183T)

HKFRS 17
BAMBRERAUBITH

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

BEEMBHEENEI0RRE LS
R F285% (&7T)

Subject of amendments

&5 2 £78

Definition of Material
EANER

Definition of a Business
EHEHER

Revised Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting
BT RERIER

Hedge Accounting

R gst

Insurance Contracts
RERAEH

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture

REERHEBENAIRERE RN

BEHENIE

The Group will adopt the new and revised standards
when they become effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the related impact of

adopting the above new and amended standards, none
of which is expected to have a significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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HUT BB 2 &BR
ZEHEEEN

1 April 2020
—Z_ZFMA-H
1 April 2020
—Z_ZTFMA—H
1 April 2020
—Z_ZTFMA—H

1 April 2020

—ZT-TFMA—H

1 April 2021
—T-TFMA—H

To be determined
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(Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16
“Leases” on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

As indicated in Note 2.1(a) above, the Group has adopted
HKFRS 16 retrospectively from 1 April 2019, but has not
restated comparatives for the year ended 31 March 2019,
as permitted under the specific transition provisions in the
standard. The reclassifications and the adjustments arising
from the new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the
opening consolidated statement of financial position on 1
April 2019. The new accounting policies are disclosed in Note
2.20.

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease
liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been
classified as “operating leases” under the principles of HKAS
17 “Leases”. These liabilities were measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 April 2019.
The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
applied to the lease liabilities on 1 April 2019 was 2.5%.

(a) Practical expedients applied
In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has
used the following practical expedients permitted by the
standard:

e applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with reasonably similar characteristics;

e relying on previous assessments on whether
leases are onerous as an alternative to performing
an impairment review — there were no onerous
contracts as at 1 April 2019;

e  excluding initial direct costs for the measurement
of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application; and

e using hindsight in determining the lease term where
the contract contains options to extend or terminate
the lease.
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~ Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (Continued)

(a) Practical expedients applied (Continued)
The Group has also elected not to reassess whether
a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of
initial application. Instead, for contracts entered into
before the transition date the Group relied on its
assessment made applying HKAS 17 and Interpretation
4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease”.

(b) Measurement of lease liabilities

22 EHBERRENZE (B
(a) HIERBATTERESE (&)

AEBTEETEHRFERER
ERAEMaNRERHERES
HE - AR BINBE A2 A
FINHANME  AEEKER
EREESEAF1TRLRE
FAaG BT HEL R HE]
TR B RFAE -

(b) HEREZ

HK$
BT
Operating lease commitments disclosed RZE-NEF=ZRA=1T—HEED
as at 31 March 2019 EREAE 531,320
Discounted using the lessee’s incremental  REAM AR B R FER B HEIEE
borrowing rate of 2.5% at the date of initial & X | = 2.5%84 37
application 520,305
Add: finance lease payables recognised m:RN=_FE-NF=A=+—HHK
as at 31 March 2019 (Note 18) EHEREMNRERE (HEE18) 808,387
Lease liabilities recognised as at R-E-HhFNA—HMH
1 April 2019 ERABEERE 1,328,692
HKS
BT
Representing: & :
Current portion mENED 735,596
Non-current portion FERBEMH 593,096
1,328,692

(c) Measurement of right-of-use assets
The associated right-of-use assets for property leases
were measured on a retrospective basis as if the
new rules had always been applied. There were no
onerous lease contracts that would have required an
adjustment to the right-of-use assets at the date of initial
application.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (Continued)

(d) Adjustments recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position on 1 April 2019

2.2

The following tables show the adjustments recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position on 1

EAEHBEME (R)

EHBERKENZE (F)

(d) RZF-NFOA—AGEENE
TRBIR-_ZT-NAFHA—A
AR KRR M HE

April 2019:

31 March 2019 Effect of
Consolidated statement of As originally adoption of 1 April 2019
financial position (extract) presented HKFRS 16 Restated
SEHBEMRRE (WE) —E-NF  BEHEREE R-ZE-LF
=A=+-—H HEEE| mMA—H
(In HK$) BT (EEZ25) E16RNTE (&)
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and ERN NS
equipment 40,845,046 (28,966,748) 11,878,298
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 29,484,130 29,484,130
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Finance lease payables R mEHRE (414,976) 414,976 -
Lease liabilities HEAE = (593,096) (593,096)
Current liabilities mEAE
Finance lease payables ERNmERE (393,411) 393,411 -
Lease liabilities HERE = (735,596) (735,596)
Equity R
Retained earnings REBAF (15,793,515) 2,731 (15,790,784)
Non-controlling interests  JF 1% IR &= 15,098 192 15,290
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2.4

" Subsidiaries

N

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Profits and losses resulting from inter-company transactions
that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest
results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the consolidated financial statements
of each of the Group'’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional currency and the
Group’s presentation currency.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 &

2.3

2.4

MELTE

HEKA
MEBARRAREYHAFEHREN
ER(RREABILER) - EAKEA
XRFRLAERMGCALOH
BERNERESER I ENTEX
EOWmE AAEEZHZER K
BRANKAEBEHEERTARE
ZHRREASAR Y BZEHERL
ZBEFIEAEAR-

AEERNRRZEANRS - &8 W
ARBERETUHE REEEAR
AR SHEF R ER (ERNEE)
T LASEH - (B ARMPBIHRRE
REBEBEHRE  BRESHEE
EAKERAOGBR 2

B AR FEE RS R IR R ER
AHNEARBRE  HEEERES
REEaRaEHRTERZY

AEEBNE I BERERHI M IFE
BREZXZE/EREEESHEA
ETNRS - TARESZHERE
BRRESEEERERERELH
HO 38 B8 DA R BR 1 S 1O MY B8 2 R RO AR
B FERERARIREERD
B RREZENEMZRRAR
AIEA AREEET OB FREANE

=7
s °

HNEBRE

(a) DEERZEFRH
AEEEEERNGAMBEREK
RASIMIR R AL EREEM
ENIBLERENERE
([heeE% ) - e BRRIA
BILEY  BLAAREZIIEE
EBRAREZ2NE



(Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(b) Transactions and balances

(c)

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where
items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of
the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised

in other comprehensive income.

2.5 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent

with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing

performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the directors of the Group who make strategic decisions.
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" Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment is stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs
are charged in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated

using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their

residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 30 years

Shorter of remaining period
of the lease or 3 years

3 years

3 years

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and equipment
Motor vehicles

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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(Continued)

2.7

2.8

2.9

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that they might be impaired at the end of each reporting
period. Assets are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups
of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost comprises costs of purchase and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to the construction
sites to be consumed in the provision of construction
services.

Financial assets

(a) Classification
The classification depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. Financial assets at
amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. If collection of the amounts is expected
in one year or less they are classified as current assets.
If not, they are presented as non-current assets. The
Group’s financial assets at amortised cost comprise of
trade and retention receivables, other receivables and
cash and cash equivalents.
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tinued)
“Financial assets (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

N

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed
in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. Assets
that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest method.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been significant increase in credit risk.

For trade and retention receivables and contract assets,
the Group applied the simplified approach permitted
under HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables.
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(Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.10 Trade, retention and other receivables

2.11

Trade, retention and other receivables are amounts due from
customers for services performed in the ordinary course
of business. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced
through the use of an allowance account, and the amount
of the loss is recognised in the impairment loss on trade
and retention receivables in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. When a trade, retention and
other receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account for trade, retention and other receivables.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the impairment loss on trade and retention
receivables in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

If collection of trade, retention and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If no, they are presented as non-current assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and
deposits held at call with banks with original maturities of
three months or less.

2.12 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
share or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

2.13 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers and sub-contractors. Trade payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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4 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawdown
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

2.15 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred
income tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date in the country where the Company and
its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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(Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.15 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
(b) Deferred income tax

(c)

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred
income tax is not recognised if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, except for deferred income tax liability
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries only to the extent that it is
probable the temporary difference will reverse in the
future and there is sufficient taxable profit available
against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the
deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.
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6 Provisions

N

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole.

A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

2.17 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
services rendered in the normal course of business.

(a) Construction contracts

Revenue from the construction services is recognised
over time as the Group's performance creates or
enhances an asset or work in progress that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced. The Group
has applied the input method in recognising the revenue
from construction contracts over time by reference to
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction on a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of the performance obligation.
The Group considers the input method better depicts the
Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or
services to their customers.
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(Continued)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ESEAEHBEME(H)

2.17 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.17 R #ER (F)
(a) Construction contracts (Continued) (a) BEL#(E)

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to
be recoverable.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive
payments are included in contract revenue to the extent
that may have been agreed with the customer and are
capable of being reliably measured.

The Group uses the “percentage-of-completion method”
to determine the appropriate amount of revenue to
recognise in a given period. The stage of completion is
measured by reference to costs incurred to date as a
percentage of total contract costs.

All construction contracts by the Group are warranted
to be free of defects for a period of one year. Expected
cost for warranty repairs are accrued when necessary.

No element of financing is deemed present as payments
are in accordance with the typical payment terms of the
relevant industry

(b) Sales of goods (b)

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to the customer, the customer
has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. Contract
liabilities are recognised when payments are received
from customers in advance but the relevant performance
obligation has not been performed.
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2.18 Interest income 2.18 FIE WA
Interest income is presented as finance income where BHERAKREARESEERBNME
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash BEReREE  ADEFBKA - F
management purposes. Any other interest income is included AEMF SWAD BIEEE KA o

in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective FBWANE R EELAERDERE
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial EEMEFUFSE  EHELEBEE
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become RENSMEERN - REERES
credit-impaired. For credit impaired financial assets, the MEEMS ERANXEARSRE
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of EREFE (MR EBBEEER) -

the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).
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(a)

(b)

(c)

ARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
ued)
) Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the reporting
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group participates in a defined contribution plan
in Hong Kong and pays contributions to privately
administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due.

Bonus plan

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s
owners. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice
that has created a constructive obligation.
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(Continued)
2.20 Leases

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Such determination is made on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement, regardless of whether
the arrangements take the legal form of a lease.

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessee with
respect to certain premises, motor vehicles and equipment.

Leases are initially recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding liabilities at the date of which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset
is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
asset’s estimated useful life and the lease term.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate;

e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option;

e  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option; and

o lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of lease liabilities.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
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2.21

ARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
ued)
Leases (Continued)
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentive received,;

e any initial direct costs; and
e  restoration costs, if any.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised
on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, as
appropriate.
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3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and
the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank deposits,
bank borrowings and lease liabilities/finance lease
payables. Bank borrowings issued at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk which
is partially offset by the bank deposits. Lease liabilities/
finance lease payables issued at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk. The interest rate
profile of bank borrowings, finance lease payables and
lease liabilities are disclosed in Notes 17, 18 and 2.2.
The bank deposits generate interest at the prevailing
market interest rates.

As at 31 March 2020, if interest rates had been 25 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s profit for the year would have increased/
decreased by approximately HK$20,000 (2019:
HK$25,000), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
income and expense on floating rate bank deposits and
bank borrowings.
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N

AL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)
" (b) Credit risk

Credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade and
retention receivables, contract assets, other receivables
and cash and cash equivalents. The carrying amounts of
these balances except cash on hand in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

The majority of the Group’s bank balances are placed
in financial institutions which are independently rated
with high credit ratings. Management does not expect
any losses from non-performance by these financial
institutions as they have no default history in the past.

Other receivables

Other receivables are also subject to the impairment
requirements under HKFRS 9. It is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit loss, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable
has occurred since initial recognition, impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit losses. As at 31
March 2020 and 2019, the identified impairment loss for
other receivables is assessed to be minimal.

Trade and retention receivables and contract assets

For trade and retention receivables and contract assets,
the Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected credit loss allowance for all trade
and retention receivables and contract assets without
financing components.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade and
retention receivables have been grouped based on
the settlement profiles of customers, shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.
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S TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCI
= A

5

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HEEAKREERSBIAE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HEERBREZE (&)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) GERER(E)
Trade and retention receivables and contract assets JEWE S50 R IEWIRE 7 A K
(Continued) BHIEE (&)
The Group divided trade and retention receivables and REEREFHEERA G REK
contract assets into two categories by the settlement BRI RERRESUAREY
pattern of customers to measure the expected credit EESAWE  Uf2EHEE
loss rates. Category 1 is for customers who have a BERX - Z1HEERNEERR
relatively low credit risk and no default history. Category BEBREAERYLHEMNER
2 is for customers who have a relatively higher credit FoEEHHEERRBYRS
risk. With different types of customers, the Group E’\]Eﬁ HAEFRERNES K
calculated the expected credit loss rates respectively. EESRGTEEREEEBR o
For category 1, the Group considers that these customers REIEMS  FEERREL
have a good credit profile and no default history. Also, EPAEEBRNEEMAAER
these customers are financially capable of repayment of A8k o IO ZEBRFENH
the outstanding amount. FRENEERTEE
For category 2, the expected credit loss rates for the MEEMS BB SERR
trade and retention receivables is determined according EWRBESHFEREEBER
to a provision matrix where balances that are less than REHEEEETE  Hpafid
12 months overdue are provided for at expected credit 1218 A By & 8/ 1% T SUFTFI 69 T8
loss rates per below and trade and retention receivables HEEBEXREE mEKES
more than 12 months overdue are 100% provided for. AR R ENR B 2 8 R 1218 A A
%%ﬂ%ﬁ
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2020 R EHE  EWE 5N EL
was determined as follows for trade and retention RBER - E-_TF=A=1—
receivables. BrEBEBREETENT -
Pastdue  Pastdue  Pastdue  Pastdue
within 31to 60 6110 90 over
Current 30 days days days 90 days Total
30HA w31 Hig61 ki
(In HK$) () Ik 55 260A 2908  ##B90A @t
As at 31 March 2020 Rz ?_#
SHE S
Category 1: F18:

Customers have a EERREL

relatively low creditrisk &K A EE Q058

and no default history Xp
Gross carrying amount EEAE) 3,228,543 963,923 656,909 1,101,672 10,946,124 16,897,171
Expected credit loss rates  EAEEEEE (Fi)

(Note) 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% -
Loss allowance BiERE (9,686) (2,892) (1,97) (3,305)  (32,838)  (50,692)
Net carrying amount ERFE 3,218,857 961,031 654,938 1,098,367 10,913,286 16,846,479
Category 2: F0

Customers have a EERRRL

relatively higher creditrisk ~ BZHRF
Gross carrying amount RN 10,075,805 1,373,915 3,388,532 1,508,964 5,207,293 21,554,509
Expected credit loss rates  HEEFER (i)

(Note) 2.5% 2.6% 3.4% 5.7% 35.0% -
Loss allowance Bl (251,895)  (35722)  (115210)  (86,011) (1,821,360) (2,310,198)
Net carrying amount FEFE 9,823,910 1,338,193 3,273,322 1,422,953 3,385,933 19,244,311
Total @t 13,042,767 2,299,224 3,928,260 2,521,320 14,299,219 36,090,790
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IAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
nancial risk factors (Continued)

“(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEERE)
Trade and retention receivables and contract assets JEW B Z B3R EWIRE 7 A K
(Continued) AHEE (&)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2019 RILE%E - BB S RTRRER
was determined as follows for trade and retention REBER-_E—NF=A=1—
receivables. BrEBREEWNT -
Past due Pastdue  Pastdue  Pastdue
within 311060 611090 over
Current 30 days days days 90 days Total
30BA A1 61 jali
(In HK$) (E1) SNER 55 Z60R E90H  #B90R it
As at 31 March 2019 RZB-N§
ZR=1-H
Category 1: F18:

Customers have a EERRE

relatively low credit risk (K B &E D288

and no default history by
Gross carrying amount FR&HE 8,030,344 4,051,941 1,102,056 2,410,840 10,232,769 25,827,950
Expected credit loss rates  EHIEEFEXR (FiE)

(Note) 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% -
Loss allowance BlEAE - - _ _ N _
Net carrying amount FEFE 8,030,344 4,051,941 1,102,056 2,410,840 10,232,769 25,827,950
Category 2: FoM

Customers have a EERREH

relatively higher creditrisk ~ BZHEF
Gross carrying amount FRaE 1,717,202 1,456,918 3,028,022 1,498,328 2,783,773 10,484,243
Expected credit loss rates  BEHEEBBER ()

(Note) 2% 4% 6% 12% 37% -
Loss allowance BEAE (34,344)  (58,277)  (181,681)  (179,799) (1,041,072) (1,495,173)
Net carrying amount EmFaE 1,682,858 1,398,641 2,846,341 1318529 1,742,701 8,989,070
Tota it 9713202 5450582 3948397 3,729,369 11975470 34,817,020
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Contlnued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade and retention receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress
and have substantially the same risk characteristics
as the current trade receivables for the same types
of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that
the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the
contract assets. On that basis, the loss allowance as at
31 March 2020 was determined as follows for contract
assets.

Contract assets as at 31 March 2020

Gross carrying amount IRE2%E
Expected loss rates (Note) TBEIEEE (M)
Loss allowance BERE
Net carrying amount HR 58

As at 31 March 2019, the expected credit loss of
contract assets is assessed to be minimal.

Note:

Expected credit losses rates were determined based
on the cash collection performance for customers with
respect to the credit terms granted to each customer
and also taking into account the forward-looking
information. The cash collection patterns are affected
by a number of factors including but not limited to the
change in customer portfolios of the Group, the effort
of cash collection from the customers, the timing of
settlement processes by customers of the Group etc.
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IAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
nancial risk factors (Continued)

“(b) Credit risk (Continued) %b) =EEER (&)

82

Trade and retention receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

After the year ended 31 March 2019, due to the
enhanced collection efforts and stringent credit control
by the Group, the Group has improved the collection
of outstanding receivables and so as the relevant loss
rates. Yet, in view of the increase in the expected credit
risks due to general economy measures, changes in
macro-economic indicators and taking into account the
uncertainty arising from the outbreak of Coronavirus
Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) in last quarter of the
financial year, the Group has taken into account the
above forward-looking information in the calculation of
the expected credit losses as at 31 March 2020.

Trade and retention receivables, contract assets and
other receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group.
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TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIA

e B
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HEEREERERMIA(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BBEREZ(E)
(c) Liquidity risk (c) MBHEZER
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining rﬁﬂ’],,.bﬁjééﬂl?ﬁafiﬂﬂ%ﬁ
sufficient cash and the availability of funding from REZEHHEEBINIEER
external parties. EVI

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been for
payments for capital expenditures, loan repayment,
trade payables, other creditors, accrued liabilities and
operating expenses. Accordingly the directors are of the
opinion that the Group does not have significant liquidity
risk.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the date of the consolidated statement of
financial position to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Fair values of balances due on
demand or less than 1 year approximate their carrying
balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Specifically, for bank borrowings which contain a
repayment on demand clause which can be exercised
at the bank’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the
cash outflow based on the earliest period in which the
Group can be required to pay, that is if the lender were
to invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with
immediate effect.
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gmﬂiiﬁﬁﬁﬁmfﬁﬁmﬁj Eﬂﬂ?x
B ‘“*ﬁM&%lﬁtéﬂWﬁEﬂm
EHLHQT’T RHIE)

\|

On demand Between Between
or less than 1and 2 2and 5 Over 5
1 year years years years Total
RER
(In HK$) ) -ER  -EWEA  ZEIfR BRLEF 2 h
As at 31 March 2020 RZE-ZE=P
ET=F
Trade payables YL 16,005,204 - - - 16,005,204
Financial liabilities included in STAER B A R E AR
accruals and other payables FEZERAE 920,918 S - - 920,918
Bank borrowings and interest FITREREMNTIS
payables 10,365,814 - - - 10,365,814
Lease liabilities and interest RESRREMNFIE
payables 600,730 88,079 - - 688,809
27,892,666 88,079 . - 27,980,745
As at 31 March 2019 RZB-hn%=ZA
E=F
Trade payables ERE SR 16,724,380 - - - 16,724,380
Financial liabilities included in Ef/\hfﬁ%ﬁﬁ% REf R
accruals and other payables DEZERAR 1,357,474 - - - 1357474
Bank borrowings and interest %Efﬂﬁ“&%ﬁﬂ%
payables 11,013,108 - - - 11,013,108
Finance lease and interest payables EiETE REMFIE 421,289 356,009 74,522 - 851,820
29,516,251 356,009 74,522 - 29,946,782

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X i &
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AL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

31 BBEREE (@)

“(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) HBEZER (&)
Where the loan agreement contains a repayable on WEERRERESRERESR
demand clause which gives the lender the unconditional R ZIEHATERALERE
right to call the loan at any time, the amounts repayable o] B ] T 4% M 2t 3B I BT SR D A
are classified in the earliest time bracket in which the Ao HEEENSRBERBAER
lender could demand repayment. Based on the internal AR ERERNZEHR o RIE
information provided by management, it is expected EEBIRMHAANIEL B E
that the lender will not exercise its rights to demand RATETFEESFEROER -
repayment. The expected cash flows with reference PEER RN ETRRERE
to the schedule of repayments set out in the loan WIESREREWT :
agreements are as follows:
Between Between
Less than 1and 2 2and5 Over 5
1 year years years years Total
(In HK$) (1) - -ZWERN  CZEIFR BELE #;
As at 31 March 2020 RZB-B£Z]
=t+-H

Bank borrowings and ERBIEERTS

interest payables 955,332 955,332 2,865,996 6,927,714 11,704,374
As at 31 March 2019 RZB-h%=ZA

=t-H

Bank borrowings and FAEERENFIE

interest payables 960,474 960,474 2,881,422 7,845,725 12,648,095

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to

safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets

to reduce debit.
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3.2

3.3

ENT (Continued)

Capital risk management (Continued)

Total capital of the Group is calculated as total equity plus
total borrowings (including bank borrowings and finance
lease payables/lease liabilities). The gearing ratio of the
Group was as follows:

3

BEEREERESRTIA

3.2

EXEREE ()
AEEZ BN ERTIZ R BRI
ERB(BRROTEERENREM
B/HERRB)HE - ARENEAR
BH R

As at 31 March

R=A=t+—8H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (&) —Z-TF —T-NEF
Total borrowings BEE 10,803,757 11,557,378
Total equity g 84,993,499 83,061,480
Total capital FEEIN 95,797,256 94,618,858
Gearing ratio ERBEEE 11.3% 12.2%

As at 31 March 2020, banking facilities of HK$24,130,503
(2019: HK$16,748,991) were granted by a bank to a
subsidiary of the Group, HK$10,130,503 has been utilised
during the year (2019: HK$10,748,991). The Group is in
compliance with the covenants of the banking facilities (Note
17).

Fair value estimation

The carrying values of trade receivables, retention
receivables, other receivables, trade payables, accruals and
other payables, finance lease payables/lease liabilities and
bank borrowings are a reasonable approximation of their
fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure
purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available
to the Group for similar financial instruments.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & XX
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Construction contracts

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs, variation orders and contract claims
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
the management on the basis of quotations from time to time
provided by the major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors
involved and the experience of the management. In order
to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date, management
conducts periodic reviews of the budgets of contracts by
comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Such significant estimates may have an impact on
the profit recognised in each year.

Impairment of trade and retention receivables and
contract assets

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to determine
when trade and retention receivables and contract assets
are impaired. Significant judgement is exercised on the
assessment of the risk of default and expected credit losses
from each customer. In making the judgement, management
considers a wide range of factors such as results of follow-up
procedures, customer payment trends including subsequent
payments, customers’ financial positions and expected future
change of credit risks, including consideration of factors such
as general economy measure, changes in macro-economic
indicators, etc. The Group has also taken into account
the uncertainty arising from the COVID-19 in last quarter
of the financial year in assessing the impairment of trade
and retention receivables and contract assets. Details of
assumptions and inputs used are discussed in Note 3.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Macau. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination
is made.
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WERDHBEN

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t—-ALFE

2020 2019
(In HK$) (&) —E-EH —EE
Flooring HoITERER 89,926,643 114,500,267
Ancillary services B E R 4,890,618 3,422,569
Sales of materials SHEM 207,160 =
95,024,421 117,922,836

Timing of revenue recognition: Wi TR AR R
At a point in time I B 207,160 -
Over time g B 94,817,261 117,922,836
95,024,421 117,922,836

The Executive Directors have been identified as the chief
operating decision-maker of the Group who review the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. The directors regard the Group’s business as a single
operating segment and review consolidated financial statements
accordingly.

The Group operates primarily in Hong Kong with substantially all
its non-current assets located and capital expenditure incurred in
Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, Revenue was earned from
customers located in Hong Kong and Macau of HK$85,004,264
(2019: HK$100,739,615) and HK$10,020,157 (2019:
HK$17,183,221), respectively.

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group is as follows:

WTESCRE/AKENEERLLERE
o Wit AR B N D WA R
EABRER EFRAKENEBRA—
BEEDBLAEEHGSHBHERE -

ASEIBERBALEEY HETHAE
FRBEENNBEREARAXRERBE
E o

HE-_ZE-_TF=-A=+—HItFE"
RAREBRBPINEFE BRI MK
2 5 585,004,264 L (ZF — NLF :
100,739,615/ 7t) 110,020,157/ 7T (=
E— % 17,183,221 ) °

B 4 4 B0 U s 1B B 0% 0 B 5 B M 2
o -

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1T-HLFE

2020 2019
(In HK$) () i A i
Customer A EFA 10,552,275 19,269,997
Customer B =FB iE B 17,439,286
Customer C 2EC TER* 16,065,545
Customer D ZFD iE B 13,319,859

*

The amount of revenue from the customer was less than 10% of the

total revenue of the year.

* REAREPHBESRERFEAKEN
10% °
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

R

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATE

6 WX HERRE

Furniture and Leasehold Motor
Buildings equipment improvements vehicles Total
(In HKS) (Er) BF RAERRE RENERE AE b
At 1 April 2018 RZZ-N\EEMA—A
Cost A 39,554,321 2,527,330 1,299,875 1,085,286 45,366,812
Accumulated depreciation 2iiE (914,634)  (1,861,934) (137,427)  (1,525,511)  (4,439,506)
Net book amount REFE 38,639,687 665,396 1,162,448 459,775 40,927,306
Year ended 31 March 2019 BE_E-N%5=A
=t+-HLEE
Opening net book amount BOEmFE 38,639,687 665,396 1,162,448 459,775 40,927,306
Additions NE - 1,266,995 461,960 1,175,688 2,904,643
Depreciation il (1318,478) (628,827) (498,577) (541,021)  (2,986,903)
Closing net book amount BREREE 37,321,209 1,308,564 1,125,831 1,094,442 40,845,046
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1-H
Cost KA 39,554,321 3,794,325 1,761,835 3,160,974 48,271,455
Accumulated depreciation 2iE (2,233,112)  (2,490,761) (636,004)  (2,066,532)  (7,426,409)
Net book amount EmFE 37,321,209 1,303,564 1,125,831 1,094,442 40,845,046
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE-2-Z%=f
=+-BLEE

Opening net book amount HEEFE 37,321,209 1,303,564 1,125,831 1,004,442 40,845,046
Additions AE - 341,052 - - 341,052
Transfer to right-of-use assets REAE B BHEER

upon adoption of HKFRS 16 EIREREPREEAE

(Note 2.2) (H:222) (28,094,048) (108,333) - (764,367)  (28,966,748)
Depreciation ik (326,936) (705,841) (540,266) (206,783)  (1,779,826)
Write-off s - (1,015) (277) - (1,292)
Disposal irk:3 - (8,389) - - (8,389)
Closing net book amount BABEEE 8,900,225 821,038 585,288 123,292 10,429,843
At 31 March 2020 R-Z-ZFE=F=1-H
Cost A 9,808,052 3,752,439 1,620,798 2,060,286 17,241,575
Accumulated depreciation 25iE (907,827)  (2,931,401)  (1,035,510)  (1,936,994)  (6,811,732)
Net book amount EmFE 8,900,225 821,038 585,288 123,202 10,429,843
During the year ended 31 March 2020, depreciation of REZE_T_TE=A=+—HILEE KE

HK$563,270 (2019: HK$522,536) and HK$1,216,556 (2019:
HK$2,464,367) were charged to “cost of sales” and “general
and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income,

respectively.
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EQU ENT (Continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2020, property, plant and
equipment with cost of HK$235,102 and accumulated depreciation
of HK$226,713 was disposed, and cost of HK$158,871 and
accumulated depreciation of HK$157,579 was written off.

Refer to Note 17 for information on non-current assets pledged as
security by the Group.

As at 31 March 2019, property, plant and equipment included the
following amounts where the Group was a lessee under finance
leases:

¥ BERRE (E)
HE_ZT_EF=ZA=+—8
% BE K% KA /235,102 T &
ST E B226, 7138 LB WHEE - MK
158,871 7L & R T E157 57978 7L E 1
HsH o
BRASEEHAZERDEENER
BHLREMET -

RZZE-NE=ZA=+—H 9% K&
REBETINAREEAEABANRE
MERTHEE

As at

31 March 2019

R-ZF-—N%F

(In HK$) (&) =A=+—H
Cost - capitalised finance leases KA-BEREERL 1,230,688
Accumulated depreciation ZETHE (357,988)
Net book amount R RE 872,700

The Group leased certain motor vehicles and photocopiers under
finance leases. The original lease terms entered into by the Group
for the leases outstanding as at 31 March 2019 ranged from 3 to 5
years. Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16, the amount is reclassified
as right-of-use assets (Note 7).

LEASES
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position

AEBEREBEBERAS TIRERITH
B-BHR-_ZE-NF=A=1t—HOKRM
MEMS  AREFTUNRABHNF
BESF - REMB BB WM EERIE 1657
% ZERENBREREERE (H7) -

HE
(a) REEMBRRARBIANSHE

As at As at
31 March 2020 1 April 2019
R-BZEF R-ZE-NF
(In HK$) (&) EFZEr=0 MA—H

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Leasehold land HETH 27,102,506 28,094,048
Properties leases MERE 272,241 517,382
Motor vehicles S 397,470 764,367
Photocopiers FTEN#% 65,000 108,333
27,837,217 29,484,130

Lease liabilities HEERE

Current VL) 590,125 731,903
Non-current ERH 83,129 596,789
673,254 1,328,692
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5 (Continued)
Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of

~ financial position (Continued)

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s rights to use
underlying leasehold land, leased premises and motor
vehicles and photocopiers under lease arrangements over
the lease terms from 2 to 30 years. They are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease

liabilities.

Refer to Note 17 for information on non-current assets
pledged as security by the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, additions to the
right-of-use assets were HK$159,919.

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

(a) REAHBRRERIANLE (8)

EREEEEASERBHER A
TEC=HENHRERAERABEE
T MERA  JTERITEIEAE
Mo ZEBEERKARBFTERZ
AOREBENE YiREMEEAE
ZEMEEHBE -

ARAKBECERZERDEENE
B F2HMET

BE_T_TF-A=t+—ALF
e %ﬁi*ﬁﬁﬁtééﬁﬁwg 9198 7T

(b) REE2HKBRBANSHE

During the year 31 March
BE=P=t-ALFE

2020 2019
(In HK$) (7Er) e S 23 —E-NF
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE (H19)
(Note 19)
Leasehold land HE LT 991,542 -
Leased properties HEWME 405,060 -
Motor vehicles S 366,897 -
Photocopiers FTEN 4 43,333 =
1,806,832 =
Expenses related to short-term leases HEHAENTER HAY
payments (Note 19) (B1et19) 165,615 -
Interest expense (included in finance costs) #8883 (5t ABH# Bk 25)
(Note 21) (Biztet) 38,632 -

During the year ended 31 March 2020, depreciation of
right-of-use assets of HK$185,841 and HK$1,620,991 were
charged to “cost of sales” and “general and administrative
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, respectively.

expenses”

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the total cash outflow
for leases was HK$1,019,604.
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, 7 HE#E)
(c) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are () AEBNEETHRAEN
accounted for -
The Group leases warehouses, motor vehicles and AEEHERE  REMITEHH - B
photocopiers. Rental contracts of warehouses, motor vehicles B RBEMITED#RMNEESNBER
and photocopiers are typically made in accordance with the BEAESHTRENHAEIERE]L
lease terms as stipulated in the rental contracts.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and THEBRTESEERIER - FERER
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The B BESBEARMIGERFES - B
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than TERARENHEEENERER
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the AN - E R EREEREE o R
lessor. With the exception of leasehold land, leased assets HELHIN HEEESTSHES
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. AR
(d) Termination options (d) #RIEZERE
Termination options are included in some of the leased AEEMETHENEBSRILER
properties across the Group. These are used to maximise B-ZESEEEARZEERREER
operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used SEZEMAEENSERRN -
in the Group’s operations. The termination options held are BAENKEEEETRASEMIE
exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective BRALBEAITE -
lessor.
INVENTORIES 8 RE
As at 31 March
R=A=t+—H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (&) —EBIERE —NEF
Flooring materials o SF SB R R 12,840,499 11,484,278
Waterproofing materials Bk 968,612 378,094
Specialised texture painting EELIERE 102,616 =
13,911,727 11,862,372

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the costs of inventories
recognised as expense and included in “cost of sales” amounted
to HK$35,262,313 (2019: HK$48,100,496) (Note 19).

As at 31 March 2020, a batch of inventories was considered as
obsolete. A provision of HK$47,133 was made as at 31 March
2020 (2019: HK$307,281) (Note 19).

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group wrote-off
inventories with no resellable value amounting to HK$480,459
(2019: Nil).
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AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (&) —E-EF —E-NF
Trade and retention receivables EWE ZERERRERRE & 38,451,680 36,312,193
Less: provision for impairment B RE RS (2,360,890) (1,495,173)
Trade and retention receivables, net EUWE ZERR R ERIRE & F 58 36,090,790 34,817,020

The credit period granted to trade customers other than for
retention receivables is within 30 days. The terms and conditions in
relation to the release of retentions varies from contract to contract,
which may be subject to practical completion, the expiry of the
defect liability period or a pre-agreed time period. The Group does
not hold any collateral as security.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is

RYESEF (RURBSKIN MEEH
R30BA - BRAMERIRE & M IR R IR
REAHOME ARARTFERTT R
2 HI 35T A1 95 TE A B (] B 0 om0 7€ © &S
SEYERBEMERRERER-

FEUE 5 RFRERE R B RO KRR D0

as follows: N

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2020 2019
(In HK3) (&) —E_EH —T-NF
1 - 30 days 12308 5,152,538 3,872,957
31 - 60 days 31£60H 1,810,711 5,508,859
61 - 90 days 61ZE90H 4,045,441 4,130,078
Over 90 days EB#BI0H 15,978,002 13,287,766
26,986,692 26,799,660
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TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial position, retention
receivables were classified as current assets based on operating
cycle. The ageing of retention receivables based on invoice date is
as follows:

TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIA

= a8 o

BUE S ERREYRES (B)

EBANBRARS ﬁ%ﬁ%é%ﬁ%'l
SEMESBARDEE - BURBSE

REZHHHORKREDOT

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—8H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (Eir) —ECEHE —T-NF
Within 1 year 1FE R 2,985,362 4,800,945
Between 1 to 5 years 1854 8,479,626 4,711,588
11,464,988 9,512,533

The carrying amounts of trade and retention receivables
approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.

Trade and retention receivables are denominated in the following

BUWEZEFRERFEEOREERA
REHAZHmELQNFERS -

EWE SEFRERREEUATE
& :

st

currencies:

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—8H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (&) —ECEF —ZT-NEF
HK$ BT 32,524,217 32,992,030
Macau Pataca (“MOP”) BT (R T)) 5,927,463 3,320,163
38,451,680 36,312,193
The Group followed the guidance of HKFRS 9 and applied the AEEERBEEMBRELNFEIRMNE

simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses of trade
and retention receivables which uses a lifetime expected credit
loss allowance for all amounts without financing components.
To measure the expected credit losses, trade and retention
receivables have been grouped based on the settlement profiles
of customers, shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. The Group has also considered other factors such as general
economy measures, changes in macro-economic indicators, etc
and taking into account the uncertainty arising from the outbreak of
COVID-19 in January 2020 and its continued impact to the Group
as forward-looking information for the calculation of the expected
credit losses. Based on the results, trade and retention receivables
of HK$2,360,890 (2019: HK$1,495,173) were impaired. Details of
assumptions and inputs used are discussed in Note 3.1(b).
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N

tention receivables were written off as uncollectible (2019:
HK$2,227,168). Movements on the provision for impairment of
trade and retention receivables are as follows:

BE_Z-_THF-A=+t-HUEFE ¥
ERWE SRR ERRE 2 EEERE
s (ZF—NF : 2,227,168 7T) © &
BESERREURESORERFEED
mr

2020 2019
(In HK$) (E) i et 33 —T-NE
As at 1 April RO A—H 1,495,173 3,480,101
Impairment loss on trade and retention ~ EWEZERARERRELH
receivables REEE 865,717 242,240
Write-off of prior provision for impairment (% 5% Ail J5i (& # & - (2,227,168)
As at 31 March W=A=+—H 2,360,890 1,495,173
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 10 FEAREREMERKE
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (&) —2IEE —E-NF
Prepayments B FIR 969,826 861,294
Other receivables H fth fE U R IB 403,775 410,107
1,373,601 1,271,401

The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

7R 6% B TR 5 500R N H At FE WO R RO BR T (B
UTHE%aHE :

As at 31 March

R=A=+-—H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (&) —E-EF —E-NF
HK$ BT 919,369 1,228,000
MOP BT 252,523 486
Others Hity 201,709 42,915
1,373,601 1,271,401

The carrying amounts of prepayments and other receivables

approximate their fair values.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 &
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(In HK$) (Br) —E-ZF —T-NF
Contract assets EHEE 10,084,028 5,394,559
Less: provision for impairment R E R (162,923) -
Contract assets, net GHEE FE 9,921,105 5,394,559
As at 31 March
R=B=+-—8H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (Eir) —E-EF —E-NF
Contract liabilities EHBE (4,457,487) (3,702,276)

The contract assets are primarily related to the Group’s rights to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditional on the Group’s future performance in achieving
specified milestones at the reporting date. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights for consideration
become unconditional. The Group typically reclassifies contract
assets to trade receivables on the date of acceptance reports
issued by the customers and invoices issued to them when such
right of collection becomes unconditional other than the passage
of time.

The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade and
retention receivables. The contract assets are related to contracts
which are still in progress and the payment is not due.

As at 31 March 2020, the loss allowance on contract assets is
HK$162,923. As at 31 March 2019, the loss allowance on contract
assets is assessed to be minimal. Details of assumptions and

inputs used are discussed in Note 3.1(b).

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & XX

AMEAETREAKENRETHMAGE
MIRERRENEFNER RREZS
BNETAEENREARENEEEE
BEBRERRKRE - B WERERNK D
BIGHE - QUEESRERKE SR -
AEEBREEFPRLRUBERAEE
REHEREA (MFEKR) BRANEBEE

HNBRRKE SRR -
RRBERAREERERTRAMN YRR

BUEZERRERRESORBREHE
AHR - AHEBERRGHEBIRHRE
HNERIREM -

WN_FE_FTFE=-A=1—H GHEEZ
BRBER1629238T - R-_T—NF=
A=1T—B AREBEEZERBELTTE
RER -FIERZBRRBARBZHE
TaRA B FE3.1(b)am i ©
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Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

~ The following table shows the revenue recognised during
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 related to
carried-forward contract liabilities.

(a) EEANAGBEINKE
TEREINBE-_ZE_ZER_F
—WE=A=+—HItFEREESL
HEEERHRE -

Year ended 31 March
BEZAZT-HLEE

2020 2019
(In HK$) (&) ZECEE —T-NEF
Revenue recognised that was SIAFEHNBBEEHNEER RS
included in the contract liabilities
balance at beginning of the year 3,624,676 5,350,241

(b) Unsatisfied performance obligations
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligation
resulting from fixed-priced long-term construction contracts.

(b) REMBHEE
TRITEEERRARZEANESL
HREXBHRE

As at 31 March

R=BA=+-—8H
2020 2019
(In HK$) () —ECEF —EB-NF
Aggregate amount of the transaction A KTEERERNRHREESH
price of long-term construction MR 5 ERBE
contracts that are partially or fully
unsatisfied 43,967,943 25,272,370

Management expects that the transaction prices regarding
the unsatisfied contracts as at 31 March 2020 will be
recognised as revenue by referencing to the progress
towards completion of the contract activities.

All other contracts are for periods of one year or less. As
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

9 |
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(In HK$) (&) —ZT—NF
Cash at bank and on hand RITKFHERE 23,627,331
Maximum exposure to credit risk FiAENRREERR 23,616,695

The Group’s cash at bank is deposited with banks in Hong Kong,
Macau and China, all of which had a maturity of not more than
three months. Cash at bank earned interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates.

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following
currencies:

AEBORTREFHATS  RF R
BRI FHRARENHMEBHT
BE=@A  RARSENGARTER
ESVREETE

ReRReEBMA TGRS E:

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (%) —ET_EF —E-NF
HK$ ST 20,029,531
Others Hih 3,597,800
23,627,331

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate
their fair values.

RekReFEYNEAERE N FER
=g
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CAPITAL AND RESERVES
are capital and premium

Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
(In HK$) (&) EBREE EBEREE
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares at HK$0.01 each & E{E0.01/8 A Z @A
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 RZE-—NFMA—A -
and 2020 —E-NERZZEF
=A=+—H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary Share
shares shares premium
(In HK$) (&) EBEREE ERREE R A& E
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRAR
Ordinary shares at FREE.01BITH
HK$0.01 each TR
At 1 April 2018, 31 March RZZE-NFOA—H"
2019 and 2020 —TNFRIZTTHE
ZA=+—H 600,000,000 6,000,000 52,482,955
(b) Capital reserve (b) EXRFHME

Capital reserve as presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 represented
the shares contribution made by shareholders at nominal
value as part of the reorganisation before listing.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 &
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(c) Shareholder contribution

The Group operated an equity-settled share-based
compensation plan, under which the Group received services
from Mr. Yip Kong Lok (“Mr. Yip”), a then consultancy service
provider and the executive director of the Group. Under the
share-based compensation plan, Mr. Yip provided technical
and marketing consultancy services to the Group in return
for share options to acquire a 30% equity interest of Sage
City at nominal consideration. The options were granted on
18 December 2003 and became exercisable on 31 March
2012, before being exercised on 14 August 2015. The amount
in shareholder contribution represents the fair value of
services received, the valuation of which was performed by
an independent qualified valuer using an income approach
by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The share-based compensation expenses for such
services were recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the date when the options
were granted on 18 December 2003 until the date when the
non-market vesting conditions were met and the options
became exercisable on 31 March 2012.

14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

13 BARRE (&)
(c) BREE

AEBRA LR EE RN RAER
JHEE Bt ASEBERZ
BRRGREERAEERTESE
BEd ([EL%]) EBRRS - BiE
ARG AEROREEE - EEER
AEERERMEREHBERRY &
REFR  BUREREERTIIRE
Sage City 30%M#E  BRHE - %=

BRER-FT=F+-A+/\B#
Bi - R=F--#=A=+-B%

RAUTE - YR_F-RFNATHE
AR - RRHERMBEERSE 2
AVE BEEEDNABLAERMGE
ME2ZEREBETANATER
RURERET - ZRBAARD BE
RHMEERXCEBRER -_2Z=
Ft-ATN\BREBRERSES
ERGEMEHENR BRI BHLER
i? FHBRERER  BEREER

——F=-A=1+—HERWUE-

14 EERBHAE

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (B) —E-ERE —E-NF
Deferred income tax liabilities 1218 A& T & B iR T
to be settled after 12 months Fisfias 127,299 49,400

KWONG MAN KEE GROUPLIMITED B X se &E B B R & 3 |
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RED INGOME TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)
ents in deferred income tax liabilities are as follows:

As at 31 March

R=B=+—-H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (Bi) —E-EF —T-NF
Beginning of the year =) 205,840
Charged/(credited) to the consolidated ~ R&RA 2EKERMNE /(G A)

statement of comprehensive income (Htit22)

(Note 22) (156,440)
End of the year FR 49,400
The movement in deferred income tax liabilities during the year, FEAMELERESHEEEE (W &\ RRE
without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within EMGADERERANEEER) T :

the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Accelerated tax
depreciation

prigsd

(In HK$) (%) BB E

At 1 April 2018 RZZE-\FEOA—H 205,840
Credited to the consolidated statement of NEE2HWERETA

comprehensive income (156,440)

At 31 March 2019 RZE-hF=A=+—H 49,400
Charged to the consolidated statement of Rize 2 EREZ MR

comprehensive income 77,899

At 31 March 2020 R_Z_ZF=A=+—H -
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BNESRFERER

follows: T
As at 31 March
R=ZA=+—8H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (&) —E-EF —T-NF
1- 30 days 1230H 6,048,613
31 - 60 days 31£260H 3,197,187
61 - 90 days 61290H 6,349,861
Over 90 days B0 H 1,128,719
16,724,380
Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies: R85 EFA TS EEEE :
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (&) —E-%E —T-hEF
HK$ BT 16,354,741
MOP RPITT 369,639
RMB ARE -
16,724,380
The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair ERZEZEZNEMEREN SRS
values due to their short maturities. mEERNFEES -
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D OTHER PAYABLES

As at 31 March

R=B=+—H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (&) —ECZER —E-NEF
Accrued expenses B RX 1,882,940
Other payables H{h fE 1 R 126,512
2,009,452
Accruals and other payables are denominated in the following Bt ER N EMENRIBIA TN EEAE -
currencies:
As at 31 March
R=A=+-—H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (E) —E-EF —E-NF
HK$ T 1,991,864
MOP BFITT 7,838
usD e 9,750
2,009,452
The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables approximate EAERARHEMENTENEREERAEA
their fair values. FERE -
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R

PAN
=

R=A=+—H
2020 2019
(In HK$) (Br) —E-ZF —T-NF
Secured BHEA
- Bank borrowings which contain a —BEARERERIETD
repayable on demand clause RITEE 10,130,503 10,748,991

The fair values of bank borrowings approximate their carrying
amounts as the impact of discounting is not significant. As at 31
March 2020, the Group’s effective interest rate for bank borrowings
was 2.4% per annum (2019: 2.5% per annum).

The bank borrowings due for repayment, based on the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, are as follows:

HRUBRTZEITEX  BIBENATF
BEHEHEEEERE R_T_TF=HA
=+—B AEERTEENEENXE
FH24% (ZT—NF : BF25%) °

3

REERBAFROETERAN 83
RERNTEHHER

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—8H

2020 2019

(In HK$) (&) —E-EF —T-hEF
Within 1 year 1FR 720,021 696,357
Between 1 to 2 years 1826 737,493 714,850
Between 2 to 5 years 2FE5F 2,321,115 2,255,490
Over 5 years Jihic Ik 6,351,874 7,082,294
10,130,503 10,748,991

As at 31 March 2020, total term and revolving banking facilities N-_ZE-_ZEE=FA=+—H0 FTHEREER

of HK$24,130,503 (2019: HK$16,748,991) of approximately
HK$14,000,000 was unutilised (2019: HK$6,000,000). These
facilities were secured by:

certain assets included in property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets with carrying amounts of HK$7,063,042
and HK$27,102,506 (2019: HK$35,417,218 and Nil),
respectively; and

(ii) corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has not breached any of the

covenants of the banking facilities. The bank borrowings are
denominated in HKS.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & XX

RITEEHEEE24,130,5038 T (=T — N1
F 16,748,991 7T) + E A 4314,000,000
BILAREA (ZZF— N5 : 6,000,000/
TT) o ZERE TN TR -

FAME BERZENCRAEE
ENETEE RE2E27 A
7,063,042/ 7T }.27,102,5067% 7T (=
TN 354172188 T RE) + &

(i)

(i) ARBIREHDFER
AZTE-_TFE=A=+—H AEEL K
EREMBITHERLY - BITBENST
FTE °
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LEASE PAYABLES

As at 31 March 2019
RZE-NF=ZA=1+—H

Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease lease
payments payments
=EBERAR
(In HK$) &) SEHREFRK IR E
Within one year —FR 421,289 393,411
More than one year but not exceeding —F A EETBBEMRF
two years 356,009 345,405
More than two years but not exceeding M FERBBRE
five years 74,522 69,571
851,820 808,387
Less: Future finance charges BT R RE S S (43,433) -
Present value of lease obligations HEEEMEE 808,387 808,387
Less: Amount due for settlement within 5l : —E REE K 4K 518
one year (393,411)
Amount due under non-current liabilittes JFEREIBEIE 4 KA HIE 414,976

The Group leased certain motor vehicles and photocopiers under
finance leases. The original lease terms entered into by the Group
for the leases outstanding as at 31 March 2019 all ranged from 3
to 5 years. The finance lease payables are denominated in HKS.
Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance leases as
at 31 March 2019 were fixed at respective contract dates from
4.3% to 5.4% per annum. All leases were on a fixed repayment
basis and no arrangement was entered into for contingent rental
payments. The finance lease payables were secured by the leased
assets with carrying amount of HK$872,700 (Note 6) as at 31
March 2019.

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16, the carrying amounts of finance
lease payables were reclassified under lease liabilities (Note 2.2).
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20

expenses are analysed as follows:

Expenses included in cost of sales and general and administrative

19 BRUZEHINEX
HABERAURE —REBTH
ST '

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1+-BL%E

2020 2019
(In HK$) (&) —E2CEF —Z-hEF
Cost of materials used B AM AR 35,262,313 48,100,496
Subcontractor costs 2B KA 25,448,844 33,025,969
Employee benefit expenses (Note 20) EERMAX (Hi20)
— direct labour —HEST 2,943,245 3,056,147
— administrative staff —fTHET 10,806,347 10,451,020
Depreciation of property, plant and M¥E - BE REEIE (fi76)
equipment (Note 6) 1,779,826 2,986,903
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE (HiZ7)
(Note 7) 1,806,832 =
Operating lease rentals in respect HEEMEFEANLEHERS
of rented premises - 373,145
Expenses related to short-term lease EHEBAERRNAX
payments 165,615 =
Repair and maintenance expenses HEREERY 85,167 38,249
Motor vehicle expenses MERX 1,168,862 983,622
Auditor’s remuneration ZE R &
- audit services — B RS 920,000 900,000
- non-audit services —FRBURT 35,000 30,000
Write-off of inventories Wi FE 480,459 -
Provision for inventory obsolescence REFERE 47,133 307,281
Other expenses Hp% 5,101,300 5,693,079
86,050,943 105,945,911
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 20 EEENEZ
Year ended 31 March
BEZA=T-HLFE
2020 2019
(In HK$) (&) —E-EF —T-nF
Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances T & - ¥4 » fE4L &= 8L 13,345,583 13,139,605
Pension cost — defined contribution scheme & k& 5k 7~ — E 58 (£ 2 2 404,009 367,562
13,749,592 13,507,167

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & XX
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YEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

nies within the Group in Hong Kong have participated
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee.

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group companies and
its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at a
minimum of 5% of the employee’s relevant income as defined
under the MPF Scheme, with the maximum mandatory contribution
by each of the Group companies and its employees limited to
HK$1,500 per month, and further contributions are voluntary.

The mandatory contributions are fully and immediately vested in
the employees as accrued benefits. The employees are entitled
to receive their entire voluntary contributions and 100% of the
Group’s employer voluntary contributions upon retirement or
leaving the Group after completing one year of service.

Any forfeited voluntary contributions made by the Group are used
to reduce the Group’s employer voluntary contributions.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 include two directors
(2019: three) whose emoluments are reflected in Note 25. The
emoluments payable to the remaining three individuals (2019: two)
during the year ended 31 March 2020 are as follows:

20 EERARFEX (4

AEEETZEBERRHE2EBHNELR
F%.ﬂ'gﬂ §|JTZ§§$|J|“$’D\F%.:T£|J(H§
5ot El]) ZAtEAABUEREAE

Zﬁ'\ﬁﬁ%’x%‘l‘%ﬂ g

RiRESHE AKEETATNLERE
BYUAZREAMAR (EERBREER
8) 2 RES%IEB AR LN - A& HE
BTRARERERE ZRHIEHIASE
A1,5008 TR LR - WA EE— S AR
BIMER

BEIMEER XN N2 BEEREEZ
FEATIEM - B B N RRSAER M1 FRBER
AEER GUEEHEE2HEREERL
AEBZ2MEREEREMN -

EADR Uz A& B B BRI B ERE
AEBBRZBREEREMN

LEBREHFAL
RBE_T_TF-A=+—RALFE"
AEEFHERNAAALBERE (ZF
—NE:ZR)ESE - AHFMERMES
RBE_T_THF-A=+—RALFE"
BNBT=2(ZF—1F: M) ALH
FHEmMT

Year ended 31 March
BEZAZT-HLEE

2020 2019
(In HK$) C&) —EERE —E-NF
Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances L& - %4 « {EAL & 2BL 2,116,800 1,491,600
Pension cost — defined contribution scheme 3R fk 4 Bk S — & 2844t 2 & & 54,000 36,000
2,170,800 1,527,600

The emoluments fell within the following bands: BRAZTHNRATER

Number of individuals

AE
2020 2019
Emolument band BT e
Nil = HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,0005% 7T 3 2
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Year ended 31 Ma
HE=HA=1t—-HILEE

2020 2019

(In HK$) (ET) —E-EfF —E-hfF
Finance income BT

- Bank interest income —SRITFEBA o 19,624
Finance costs B A AR

— Interest on bank borrowings —RITEBEFE (273,722)

- Finance charges on finance leases —RMEMENBKER (49,463)

- Finance charges on leases liabilities -HEAENKER -

(326,185

Finance costs, net B BB AN 88 (303,561)

22 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 22 Fi5HiEX
The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated REA2AREENMER B¢ %5E

statement of comprehensive income represents:

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-ALEE

2020 2019

(In HK$) (E) —E-EH —T-NF
Current income tax: BIERFR S At

- Hong Kong profits tax —EBHNER 1,170,199

- Macau corporate income tax —BFIREMEH 392,019

— (Over)/under-provision in prior years —BEEE (GBRERE) BETR 144,951

1,707,169

Deferred income tax (Note 14) ISR (Mt 14) (156,440)

Income tax expense Fris Bl X 1,550,729
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 In accordance with the two-tiered profits tax regime, Hong
Kong profits tax was calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2
million and 16.5% on the remaining balance of the estimated
assessable profits for the years ended 31 March 2020 and
2019.

(ii) Macau corporate income tax
Macau corporate income tax has been provided at the
applicable rate of 12% on the estimated assessable profit in
excess of MOP600,000 (approximately HK$583,000) of the
Group’s operations in Macau.

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average

(i) BBREH
BREFGSHMAS BE=Z=F
ER_FT-NF=ZA=Z+-—HLE
B BANEHRATERTENE
2,000,000/ JT JA8.25% 51 & » 1 H &%
i Et FE AR T M A2 16.5% 51 & o

(i) BPIEEFTEH
BPICEMSHRERANEBRMEK
B i ETE R B4 7 #818.600,0002 1
7T (#9583,000% 7T ) K 2B 12 A i A &%
F12%T IR o

S ERR RSB AT A B B H B IR R A
RERE ABRE B AR M A IN R T R 5t

tax rate applicable to the profit of the consolidated entities as BERERTMENEROT
follows:
Year ended 31 March
BE=-RA=t—-HLEE
2020 2019

(In HK$) (&) —2IEE —E-NE
Profit before income tax B BT 15 7 Al Vi 7,618,310 11,500,142
Tax calculated at applicable tax rates RERNEGTERTIIE 1,071,695 1,402,863
Expenses not deductible for taxation B R

purposes 496,548 92,817
Tax effect of unused tax losses WERER 2 A AIEEE

not recognised B E 83,001 -
(Over)/under-provision in prior years BEFE (BEEE) BETR (78,778) 144,951
Tax deduction T3 TR AR (89,902) (89,902)
Income tax expense Frishim% 1,482,564 1,550,729

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 14.6% (2019:
12.2%).

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.15(b),
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
cumulative tax losses of $503,036 (2019: Nil) as it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.
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24

(In HK$) CET)

Final dividend paid — Nil
(2019: HKO.7 cents per share)

BIRAHRE - &
(ZZ2—1%F : R0.7E)

Dividend paid during the year ended 31 March 2020 was
HK$4,200,000 (HK0.7 cents per share) (2019: HK$8,400,000
(HK1.4 cents per share)).

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit

24

attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the years.

- 4,200,000

HE-_Z-_TE=-FA=+—HILFEERED
IR A5 % B.4,200,0003% 7T (FRR0.778 1) (=
ZT— L4 : 8,400,000 7T (FFA1.4784L)) »

ARRAEEAREEREF
BREXRBANEEBEEEZARBERA
RN AR BT EBROMETFHH

-

Year ended 31 March

BE=A=t-HLEE
2020 2019
(In HK$) (Eir) —E-EF —E-NF
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 782 Bl A A JE 15 % 7 6,212,831 9,979,511
Weighted average number of ordinary BERETE B INETHE
shares in issue 600,000,000 600,000,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) FREREF (FBL) 1.04 1.66

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. Potential
ordinary shares are dilutive when, and only when, their conversion
to ordinary shares would decrease earnings per share. As at 31
March 2020 and 2019, diluted earnings per share is equal to basic
earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential shares.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & XX
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ONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.622) D
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.622G)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (equivalent to key management (a) EZMHE (HERTEEEEBEHMH)
compensation)
The remuneration of the directors is set out below: EZEMEHIOT :
For the year ended 31 March 2020: BE-Z-2F=-A=1+-HLEE:

(In HKS) #7

Name

:£1

Executive Directors HEs

M. Kwong Chi Man BExiE

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (Note) ERARE (W)
. Yip Wai Man ) gL
Independent non-executive Directors BukiiEs
Ms. Yu Wan Wah, Amparo REERT

Mr. Law Pui Cheung Biignt

Mr. Wat Hiu Yan Danny i
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F Té'OF DIRECTORS 25 EZEFEARAZ (FBAA
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE E)E38MRRATHEES
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND 5 (£622GE) FRENHE.
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.622G)

(Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (equivalent to key management (a) EEME HERETZEEEFHH)
compensation) (Continued) (%8)
For the year ended 31 March 2019: BE_ZT—NF=ZA=+—HLFE:
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
(In HKS) AT ERES(FRRADALANBAALE) REHEARBE RS RMHHE
QOther emoluments
paid or receivable
in respect of
director's other
services in connection
with the management
Employer's of the affairs
Allowances  contribution of the Company
Discretionary  and benefits  to a retirement or its subsidiary
Name Fees Salary bonuses inkind  benefit scheme undertaking Total
HEEH
iR
ARRFE
KERALE
mRIER EREHH
RER s RBENE
14 e e Bigha BN Exftx Elime @i
Executive Directors HES
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BEtE - 1,024,000 100,000 10,655 18,000 - 1,152,695
. Yip Kong Lok (Note) ERARE (W) - 954,000 90,000 31,537 18,000 - 1093537
M. Yip Wai Man ERYGE - 620,931 90,000 - 18000 = 728931
Independent non-executive Directors BiFdfEs
Ms. Yu Wan Wah, Amparo FEELL 120,000 - - - - - 120,000
Mr. Law Pul Cheung Biners 120,000 - - - - - 120,000
Mr. Wat Hiu Yan Danny EENLE 120,000 - - - - - 120,000
360,000 2,598,931 280,000 42192 54,000 - 3,335,123
Note: Appointed as executive director of the Group on 3 August i RZE—NENF=BEZEA
2018. AEBRHITES o
During the year end 31 March 2020, none of the directors of REE-_E-_ZTFE=A=+—HIF
the Company waived their emoluments nor agreed to waive B AR EEHERZEERER
their emoluments for the year (2019: nil). MesiRAENEEMES (- NE:
&) -
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N

{E CONSOLIDAT
& B o

ITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
CLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE

ONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND

COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.622G)
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits
Save as disclosed in Note 25(a), the directors did not receive
any other retirement benefits or termination benefits during
the year (2019: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group did not pay
consideration to any third parties for making available the
directors’ services (2019: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of the directors, bodies corporate controlled by
and connected entities with such directors

As at 31 March 2020, there are no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of the directors, bodies
corporate controlled by and controlled entities with such
directors (2019: nil).

Director’s material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 28(a), no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Group was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: nil).

COMMITMENTS

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessee

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

26

E) B3R AT (REESFRES)
B0 (26226E) FAEZHRE) (&)

EENRABANRLILEF
BREfRE25(a) TR BIN  RAFE - &
1 WA ] B A AR AR AR R AR LE
B (ZF—NF: &) -

HERHESREOE=FTRHENAL

RBZE-T-2E-f=4-ALF
§  AEE YA SR A E R R

(b)

(c)

mAERE=ZFZHRE(ZE—N
F M) o

(d) BEUES EZEHNEERER
BEERASRANER  HUERK
HiRZHNER
RZZE_ZTF=A=+—H' ' ~5£E
BMENES E%fﬂ%&l&ﬁ#

HERAZ S AMILEMER R
%)ﬁm&ﬁﬁﬂx%ﬂif(_f N

EERNRG  ZHFISHINERES

BRBEE28(a) TR EE SN RBE—F
—EFE-A=1T-—HULEFERIRZ
EJ%WHEJE%F‘EEJ I EAT (] AR A

BEARAMEENEREEARE
ﬁn(?H ETK%F‘EJ&)WN*I%%%*H
BONERNEARS ZHEEH (=
—hE:E) -

EE

REREAR -FREERABA
TARECERERTHARARREREN
KEBEIT

(e)

As at
31 March
2019
=RA=+—H
(In HK$) (&) —hEF
Within 1 year 1E R 348,016
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 1E & ESF R 183,304
531,320

From 1 April 2019, the Group recognised right-of-use assets for BE-Z—NAFHOA—B A&EEH
their leases, except for short-term or low value leases. See Note (R EEEHRERIN) BR Em%é

2.2 and Note 7 for details. E o iRm MM E2 2R T o
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27 ED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 27 SARERBRHE
(a) Cash flows from operating activities (a) BEZDRERERE
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1t-HLEE
2020 2019
(In HK$) (Eir) —E-ZF ZT—NF
Cash flows from operating activities K& EHFTEEESRE
Profit before income tax BR P15 158 Al ) 7,618,310 11,500,142
Adjustments for: NI E=SET (e
- Interest income — B WA (57,048) (19,624)
— Interest expense —FEMAX 373,895 323,185
— Depreciation of property, plant and ¥ BERIETE
equipment 1,779,826 2,986,903
~ Depreciation of right-of-use assets —RAREERE 1,806,832 =
— Impairment loss on trade and retention  — FEULE 5 B8R 7% % JE IR 2 &
receivables and contract assets IRENEERERE 1,028,640 242,240
— Write-off of inventories —MEEE 480,459 -
— Provision for inventory obsolescence ~ —REFE & E 47,133 307,281
— Write-off of property, plant and —MEEE - BB k&
equipment 1,292 =
— Loss from disposal of property, plant ~~ —HE¥¥ - WE NRiE 2 EE
and equipment 8,389 =
Operating profit before working capital 418 & & % B) Al 48 & % 7
changes 13,087,728 15,340,127
Changes in working capital: BEESEE
— (Increase)/decrease in inventories —FEGEm R (2,576,947) 1,673,479
— (Increase)/decrease in trade and —EWESRARERRE S
retention receivables (&m) md (2,139,487) 4,702,830
— Increase in prepayments and other — FES5RIE R A Ath e M R IR 38 N
receivables (102,200) (127,771)
— Increase in contract assets — B EERLN (4,689,469) (44,318)
- Increase/(decrease) in contract —-&RaEEMm/ (hd)
liabilties 755,211 (5,282,371)
— (Decrease)fincrease in trade payables — FERTE Z8BER CFfi4d) (719,176) 299,633
— Decrease in accruals and other —[EET & A R H A0 e FRIE R A
payables (648,756) (272,622)
Net cash generated from operations REmMBERS 2,966,904 16,288,987

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & XX
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8

" Non-cash transactions

(b) FHREXRH

The costs of property leases of approximately HK$159,918 HE-_Z-_ZF=F=+—HItHF
were capitalised as right-of-use assets during the year ended B MEBEEKARL159,9188TE &
31 March 2020. AMEREREERE

(c) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment (c) HEVMX RERREZMEBRE
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from CHEAHERERT  HEYE - H
disposals of property, plant and equipment comprise: B R EE 2 S HIBRIE

Year ended 31 March
HE=BA=1t—-HILLEE

2020 2019

(In HK$) (#r) —E-EF —E-NF
Net book amount (Note 6) BREERE (M ate) 8,389 -
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BERREZER

plant and equipment (8,389) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE  BE NREZATSHE

plant and equipment = -

(d) Net cash reconciliation (d) FHEESHEK

This section sets out an analysis of net cash and the RETF ST 25 FE H)FH S FFR
movements in net cash for each of the years presented. SEH DI -

Year ended 31 March
BEZAZT-HLEE

2020 2019
(In HK$) (&) —ECEE —T-NfF
Cash and cash equivalents AeRkBAEEEY 19,612,765 23,627,331

Bank borrowings - variable
interest rate

Finance lease payables - fixed
interest rate

Lease liabilities — fixed interest rate

Net cash
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EANmMERE - EEHE
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TEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)
(d) Net cash reconciliation (Continued)

27 GAERERERME (B

(c) FR=HEKGE

Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
HthEE BETHELCERE
Cash and Finance
cash Bank lease Lease
equivalents  borrowings payables liabilities Total
HER

(In HK$) (&) BeZEN ROEE ENRERE HEBE @5
Net cash as at 1 April 2018 RZE-\EWA-A2Z

FHe 17,977,073 (11,431,894) = - 6,545,179
Cash flows Reme 5,650,258 682,903 422,301 - 6,755,462
Other non-cash movement A ERe 2D - - (1,230,688) - (1,230,688)
Net cash as at 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=+—H

LERE 23,627,331 (10,748,991) (808,387) - 12,069,953
Adoption of HKFRS 16 (Note 2.2) A AR KRS EE|

F165 (M12222) - - 808,387  (1,328,692) (520,305)
Restated net cash as at 1 April 2019 R=E—-AEMA—-H2

LB5FRe 23,627,331 (10,748,991) - (1,328692) 11,549,648
Cash flows RenzE (4,013,762) 618,488 - 815,357 (2,579,917)
Acquisition - leases KE-1E - - - (159,919) (159,919)
Foreign exchange adjustments ONE R (804) - - - (804)
Net cash as at 31 March 2020 R-ZZE-ZE=fA=+-H

L38RE 19,612,765  (10,130,503) - (673,254) 8,809,008

28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The directors of the Company are of the view that the following

28 BEBAIRS
RRABEERBATATRERAERER

individuals were related parties that had transactions or balances SR 2 AR T
with the Group.
Related parties Relationship with the Group

BT BAKENER

Mr. Kwong Chi Man (“Mr. Kwong”)

BEXEE(TBEED AEEERBRRRES
Ms. Li Chuen Chun (“Mrs. Kwong”) Spouse of Mr. Kwong
2L ((BX]) BB 5 A O B 4

Ms. Kwong Wing Yan (“Ms. Kwong”) Daughter of Mr. Kwong
Bkt ([Bskmz L)) BEENRT

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & XX

Controlling shareholder and executive director of the Group
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ring the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Groug
had the following significant transactions with its related
parties:

(In HKS) (%)

SEEERBT

= —E Es

BUATHEARRS

Year ended 31 March
HE=RA=1t—-HLEE
2020 2019
—E-EF ZE-NEF

Rental paid in relation to rental contract B2 N3 &IV 2 AEAL 2

entered into with ENHEERZ
Mr. Kwong (Note b) BT (Hiizn)
Mrs. Kwong and Ms. Kwong BARBXMRZ L
(b) As at 31 March 2020, the Group recognised lease liabilities to (b)

related party of approximately HK$178,121 over the relevant
property lease upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 April
2019.
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RZFZFF=A=+t—RA K%
—NEMA—BRMNE B ERE %
AIE165:%  ASEREBMERE
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OSITION AND RESERVE

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the Company

ENNSI WA b 3

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H

Notes 2020 2019
(In HK$) (&) P &% —E-EE —T-NF
ASSETS B
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary REIB AR ZEE (a) 27,008,999 27,008,999
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TR ZRIE I E At g W R IE 298,220 387,549
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE Y BT B A m) ZRIE 58,002,903 58,933,630
Cash and cash equivalents ReKREFEY 205,832 203,671

58,506,955 59,524,850

Total assets EERE 85,515,954 86,533,849
LIABILITIES =K
Current liabilities nREEE
Accruals and other payables FERT 2 A e E fth B 45 5108 19,500 1,040,395
Amounts due to a subsidiary eI B 2 Rl 5108 4,500 1,500
Total liabilities BELEH 24,000 1,041,895
EQUITY R
Share capital %N 6,000,000 6,000,000
Reserves 5 (b) 79,491,954 79,491,954
Total equity e 85491954 85491954
Total equity and liabilities BERkaEHEE 85,515,954 86,533,849

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved
by the Board of Directors on 19 June 2020 and was signed on its

behalf.

ARARZHBRARARREEZEN_FT_F
FRATNBERELRATEERARRE

Mr. Kwong Chi Man Mr. Yip Kong Lok BEX K% HRgEL
Director Director BZ EE

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & XX
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NT OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of principal subsidiaries

(Continued)

Place of Issued and fully Principal activities
incorporation/ paid up and place
Company name establishment share capital of operation Interest held (%)
EMEL/ BRI TEXBR
PR et R&RRE EXIE Fir 5 2 (%)
2019
—2-NE
Directly held by the Company
AAFEERE
Victor Ease Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in 100
Hong Kong
ARERAA RERAHE 10,000% 7T REBREER
Indirectly held by the Company
AATIEERE
Kwong Man Kee Engineering Limited  Hong Kong HK$100 Provision of engineering 100
services in flooring,
screeding and anti-skid
surfacing in Hong Kong
BXEIRARAA BB 10087 REBREMTER HAHER
HRE A ENIRRS
Charter Ease International Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in Macau 100
ERERERATF RERAHE 10,000% 7T REPREER
Luxury Sense Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in Macau 100
RERAHE 10,000% 7T REPREER
Kwong Man Kee (Macau) Macau MOP30,000 Provision of engineering 100
Engineering Limited services in flooring,
screeding and anti-skid
surfacing in Macau
B (AR) IREBAR . 30,0008 REFRMBITAR  BatER
BRBBHENIRRE
Sino Ocean International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Trading of materials 100
PHARERAF 3 10,0007 7T HHES
Prolific Harvest International Limited ~ British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in 100
Hong Kong
SHERERAT RERUMS 10,000% T REBRAER
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(b)

(a) Particulars of principal subsidiaries (Continued)

(a) EEMBLTHE (&)

Place of Issued and fully Principal activities
incorporation/ paid up and place
Company name establishment share capital of operation Interest held (%)
ML/ BRfT TEXBR
L AR L R&zRE EXE Fir 5 B2 (%)
2019
it Syikid
Kwong Man Kee Investment Hong Kong HK$10,000 Investment holding in 100
Company Limited Hong Kong
BXERERRAA &t 10,000 70 REBREER
Kwong Man Kee Specialist Hong Kong HK$10,000 Provision of engineering 100
Engineering Limited services in flooring,
screeding, anti-skid
surfacing and specialised
texture painting in Hong Kong
BYREEIREARDA &t 10,000 7 REBREMITER et
BRMBRERMERES
TRE%
KMK (Asia) Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Provision of engineering 85
services in waterproofing
works in Hong Kong
Bxa(Eh)ERAR i3 100,000 7T REBREHKIRTEL
TRE%
Reserve movement of the Company (b) ARAZRHEED
Capital
Share reserve
premium (Note) Total
EXRRE
(In HK$) (GE) R 6 )5 (B (Bt =E) st

At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019

and 2020 —E-NER
—E-TF
=f=+—H
Note

R-ZF-NFHA—H "

Capital reserve of the Company represented the difference between

the net asset value of Victor Ease acquired over the nominal value of

the share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

i3

ARR 2 AR FHEFERERAREZ Victor Easez &
EFEEAD R BERBAETRAEEZ RF

KWONG MAN KEE GROUPLIMITED B X se &E B B R & 3 |
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Bk

Revenue Il

BRBATER (BR)

Profit/(loss) before
taxation

Profit/(loss) attributable to 72 1% A A FE1h
owners of the Company &7,/ (E18)

Cash flows BERE
Net cash inflow/(outflow) 422 EEIR &
from operating activites R A/ () %%

At year end RELE

Total assets BERAE
Total liabilities BERE
Total equity e

Cash and bank balances & RiR{T4&#

Per share data BREE

Earnings/(loss) per share SRR EF/ (EE)
- basic (HK cents) —EARCGEN)

Notes:

Kz -

—
[
=

ARMBEEREZE FRANGEMBFHRE -

=

— —~
o O
- =
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For the year ended 31 March
BEZA=1+—-HLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—ZCZF CZE-hFE ZE-NE ZE—+tH ZE-—RE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

B BT BT BT BT
Note (a) Note (a) Note (a) Note (a) Note (b)
Kizt(a) Hiit(a) Wit (a) Hist(a) Htit(b)
95,024,421 117,922,836 77,094,366 72,362,730 68,575,030
7,618,310 11,500,142 7,661,375 (561,059) 20,911,099
6,212,831 9,979,511 6,646,663  (2,838,093) 16,797,818
2,277,982 16,902,055 1,796,322 (22,853,802) 9,566,475
119,177,048 117,817,729 122,273,410 85,070,994 41,136,489
34,183,549 34,756,249 39,523,410 8,967,647 17,178,004
84,993,499 83,061,480 82,750,000 76,103,347 23,958,485
19,612,765 23,627,331 17,977,073 35,085,289 14,172,321
1.04 1.66 1.11 (0.55) 3.73

The financial figures were extracted from the Listing Document dated 30 September 2016.

AR BEEREE AR -—R"FAA=TAMN LT X -

The financial figures were extracted from the consolidated financial statements in the annual reports.
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